THE CKN INEQUALITY FOR SPINORS: SYMMETRY AND SYMMETRY BREAKING

JEAN DOLBEAULT, MARIA J. ESTEBAN, RUPERT L. FRANK, AND MICHAEL LOSS

ABSTRACT. This paper is devoted to Sobolev interpolation inequalities for spinors, with weights of Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg (CKN) type. In view of the corresponding results for scalar functions, a natural question is to determine whether optimal spinors have symmetry properties, or whether spinors with symmetry properties are linearly unstable, in which case we shall say that symmetry breaking occurs. What symmetry means has to be carefully defined and the overall picture turns out to be richer than in the scalar case. So far, no symmetrization technique is available in the spinorial case. We can however determine a range of the parameters for which symmetry holds using a detailed analysis based mostly on spectral methods.

Contents

1. Introduction and main result (I)	1
2. Passing to logarithmic variables and main result (II)	6
3. Changes of coordinates and preliminary estimates	10
4. Existence of optimizers	13
5. A first symmetry result and a monotonicity property	14
6. A second symmetry result	17
6.1. A Gagliardo-Nirenberg interpolation inequality for spinors on	the sphere 17
6.2. A symmetry range	22
6.3. Extension	27
7. Instability of symmetric solutions and symmetry breaking	27
8. Proof of the main results	31
Appendix A. The best constant among symmetric functions	31
Appendix B. Spinor spherical harmonics decomposition	34
References	37

1. INTRODUCTION AND MAIN RESULT (I)

A perennial question in the calculus of variation concerns the symmetry properties of optimizers. A functional \mathscr{F} is invariant under a group G if $\mathscr{F}(g^*\psi) = \mathscr{F}(\psi)$ for all ψ and for all $g \in G$, where $g^*\psi$ denotes the action of g on ψ . If ψ_m is an optimizer for

Date: April 23, 2025. File: WSIS-Avr25.tex.

2020 Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary: 35B06; Secondary: 26D10, 81Q10.

Key words and phrases. Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg inequalities; Hardy-Sobolev inequalities; interpolation inequalities; symmetry; optimal constants; symmetry breaking; linear instability; non-scalar variational problem; spinors.

the functional \mathscr{F} , is it true that ψ_m is invariant under the action of the group *G*? This is often not the case; the symmetry is then broken. Exceptions to this rule are, in general, difficult to find and can pose considerable mathematical challenges. An example where these features are nicely displayed are the Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg inequalities [7] (also see [25] for an earlier related result),

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{|\nabla v(x)|^2}{|x|^{2a}} dx \ge C_{a,b,d} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{|v(x)|^p}{|x|^{bp}} dx \right)^{2/p}.$$
 (CKN)

Here $d \ge 3$ is an integer, a, b are real numbers with $a \le b \le a + 1$ and, to ensure scale invariance, $p = \frac{2d}{d-2-2a+2b}$. This inequality is often considered only for real functions, but extends trivially to complex-valued functions (see Remark 13). The problem is to find the optimal constant $C_{a,b,d}$, which is positive if $a \ne (d-2)/2$, to discuss whether $C_{a,b,d}$ is achieved or not, and in case optimizers exist, to analyse their main qualitative properties, like positivity and symmetry. If one replaces the function v(x) by $v(R^{-1}x)$, where R is any rotation, then the value of the functional does not change. Thus, the expectation is that the optimal function, when it exists, is radial. It was shown by Catrina and Wang [8], with later improvements by Felli and Schneider [21], that below a certain curve $C_{FS}^{(d)}(a, b) = 0$ in the parameter space $\{a, b\}$, the rotational symmetry of the optimizer is broken. In a later work [13], the rotational symmetry in the remaining region was established.

A natural continuation of this line of research is the analogous question for *spinor valued functions*. While this question could be studied in any dimension *d*, below we restrict ourselves to the case where d = 3. The scalar variable *v* in (CKN) is replaced by the \mathbb{C}^2 -valued function, or '2-spinor',

$$\psi(x) = \left(\begin{array}{c} \psi_1(x) \\ \psi_2(x) \end{array}\right),$$

and the gradient is replaced by

$$\sigma \cdot \nabla \psi = \sum_{j=1}^{3} \sigma_j \, \partial_j \psi \, .$$

Here, $\sigma = (\sigma_j)_{j=1,2,3}$ is the family of the Pauli matrices

$$\sigma_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The role of the functional inequality (CKN) is played by the inequality

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\sigma \cdot \nabla \psi(x)|^2}{|x|^{2\alpha}} \, dx \ge \mathscr{C}_{\alpha,\beta} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\psi(x)|^p}{|x|^{\beta p}} \, dx \right)^{2/p} \,. \tag{SCKN}$$

Throughout we assume that

$$\alpha \leq \beta \leq \alpha + 1,$$

and, by definition, $\mathscr{C}_{\alpha,\beta} \ge 0$ is the best constant in the space

$$\mathcal{D}_{\alpha,\beta} := \left\{ \psi : |x|^{-\beta} \psi \in \mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{3},\mathbb{C}^{2}) ; |x|^{-\alpha} \sigma \cdot \nabla \psi \in \mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3},\mathbb{C}^{2}) \right\}.$$

For the same scaling reasons as above, the exponent *p* is given by

$$p = \frac{6}{1 - 2\alpha + 2\beta}.\tag{1}$$

In contrast to the scalar inequality (CKN), an infinite set of special values of α appears for which the inequality fails. We set

$$\Lambda := \left\{ k - \frac{1}{2} : k \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\} \right\}.$$
⁽²⁾

Proposition 1. If $\alpha \in \Lambda$, then $\mathscr{C}_{\alpha,\beta} = 0$ for all $\alpha \leq \beta \leq \alpha + 1$. If $\alpha \notin \Lambda$, then $\mathscr{C}_{\alpha,\beta} > 0$ for all $\alpha \leq \beta \leq \alpha + 1$.

Our main interest in this paper is in the sharp constant $\mathscr{C}_{\alpha,\beta}$ and the corresponding set of optimizers. The chief reason for investigating such a problem is that spinors are ubiquitous in many of the equations of physics: for instance, in the Dirac equation, the Pauli equation and in the influence of the L-S coupling on the spectrum of atoms. In a particular case, Inequality (SCKN) can be viewed as a generalization of the Hardy inequality for spinors when $\alpha = -1/2$, $\beta = 1/2$ and p = 2,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |x| |\sigma \cdot \nabla \psi(x)|^2 dx \ge \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\psi(x)|^2}{|x|} dx,$$
(3)

where the constant $\mathscr{C}_{-1/2,1/2} = 1$ is sharp. This inequality has proven to be very useful for analyzing Dirac-Coulomb Hamiltonians [16, 15, 18, 19, 20, 35].

The scalar (CKN) inequality is invariant under the group O(3) in the sense that both sides of the inequality remain the same if v is replaced by v_R for $R \in O(3)$, where $v_R(x) := v(R^{-1}x)$. Similarly, we now show that the spinorial inequality (SCKN) is invariant under the group SU(2). If A is any SU(2) matrix, then, recalling that $\sigma = (\sigma_k)_{k=1,2,3}$ is a basis for the traceless Hermitean (2 × 2)-matrices, one has

$$A^* \sigma_i A = \sum_{k=1}^3 R_{ik}(A) \,\sigma_k \,. \tag{4}$$

The matrix $R(A) = (R_{ik}(A))$ turns out to be a rotation. The map $A \mapsto R(A)$ is a representation of the group SU(2), i.e., R(AB) = R(A)R(B). If one transforms

$$\psi(x) \mapsto A \psi(R^{-1}(A) x) =: \psi_A(x),$$

one finds that

$$\sigma \cdot \nabla \psi_A(x) = (\sigma \cdot \nabla \psi)_A(x).$$

Thus,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\sigma \cdot \nabla \psi_A(x)|^2}{|x|^{2\alpha}} dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\sigma \cdot \nabla \psi(x)|^2}{|x|^{2\alpha}} dx \quad \text{and} \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\psi_A(x)|^p}{|x|^{\beta p}} dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\psi(x)|^p}{|x|^{\beta p}} dx.$$

This shows that inequality (SCKN) is SU(2)-invariant.

In the symmetry problem for the scalar (CKN) inequality one asks whether some (or any) optimizer is invariant under the O(3) action. In the spinorial case, however, the symmetry question has to be phrased differently, and *this is one of the main differences from the scalar case.* The reason is that there is no nontrivial spinor that is invariant under the SU(2) action. Indeed, if $\psi \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ satisfies $\psi_A = \psi$ for all $A \in SU(2)$, then $\psi \equiv 0$.

The proof of this assertion is simple. Indeed, the invariance of the left side of (4) under $A \mapsto -A$ implies that R(A) = R(-A). Thus, if $\psi_A = \psi = \psi_{-A}$, then $A\psi(x) = \psi(R(A)x) = \psi(R(A)x) = \psi(R(A)x) = -A\psi(x)$, so $\psi(x) = 0$.

We now explain how to formulate the notion of symmetry in the spinorial case. We consider the uniform probability measure $d\omega$ on \mathbb{S}^2 , that is, in spherical coordinates, $d\omega = \frac{1}{4\pi} \sin\theta \, d\theta \, d\varphi$ and the corresponding Hilbert space $L^2(\mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2; d\omega)$ of (angular) spinors on the sphere \mathbb{S}^2 . For $\chi \in L^2(\mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2; d\omega)$, let $\chi_A(\omega) := A\chi(R^{-1}(A)\omega)$. Then $\chi \mapsto \chi_A$ is a representation of SU(2) in $L^2(\mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2; d\omega)$. Decomposing into irreducible representations we obtain the orthogonal decomposition

$$\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{S}^{2},\mathbb{C}^{2};d\omega) = \bigoplus_{k\in\mathbb{Z}\setminus\{-1\}}\mathscr{H}_{k}.$$

Each subspace \mathscr{H}_k transforms irreducibly under the transformation $\chi \mapsto \chi_A$. The integer *k* in this decomposition is an eigenvalue of the operator $\sigma \cdot L$, where $L := \omega \wedge (-i\nabla)$. We recall the details of this decomposition in Appendix B.

An elementary calculation shows that

$$(\sigma \cdot \omega)(\sigma \cdot L + 1) = -(\sigma \cdot L + 1)(\sigma \cdot \omega)$$
(5)

for all $\omega \in \mathbb{S}^2$. Since $\sigma \cdot \omega$ provides a unitary equivalence between \mathcal{H}_k and \mathcal{H}_{-2-k} , we see that the representations for $k \ge 0$ and $k \le -2$ are equivalent.

The irreducible subspaces of lowest dimension are \mathcal{H}_0 and \mathcal{H}_{-2} and the dimension of each of these two spaces is 2. Thus, we propose to reformulate the notion of spherical symmetry of an optimizer of (SCKN) as *belonging to an irreducible representation of lowest dimension*. This should be compared with the notion of symmetric functions in the setting of the scalar inequality (CKN), where the irreducible subspace of the lowest dimension of the representation of O(3) has dimension one and corresponds to spherically symmetric functions.

Using the fact that \mathscr{H}_0 consists of constant spinors, and consequently \mathscr{H}_{-2} consists of $\sigma \cdot \omega$ times constant spinors, we arrive at the following definition.

Definition 2. A spinor ψ on \mathbb{R}^3 is symmetric if there is a scalar, complex-valued function f on \mathbb{R}_+ and a constant spinor $\chi_0 \in \mathbb{C}^2$ such that either

$$\psi(x) = f(|x|) \chi_0 \text{ for a.e. } x \in \mathbb{R}^3,$$

or

$$\psi(x) = f(|x|) \, \sigma \cdot \frac{x}{|x|} \, \chi_0 \quad \text{for a.e. } x \in \mathbb{R}^3 \, .$$

We call these symmetric spinors of type \mathcal{H}_0 and \mathcal{H}_{-2} , respectively.

Let us define $\mathscr{C}^{\star}_{\alpha,\beta}$ as the best constant in the Inequality (SCKN) when restricted to *symmetric spinors*. This constant can be easily computed and the optimizers can be classified explicitly, as will be shown in Proposition 29. In particular, symmetric optimizers are of type \mathscr{H}_0 if $\alpha > -1/2$ and of type \mathscr{H}_{-2} if $\alpha < -1/2$.

These preliminary considerations raise an obvious question:

For which α and β are the global optimizers for Inequality (SCKN) symmetric ? Before stating our main result concerning this question, we mention one more special feature of the family of inequalities (SCKN). Namely, given $\psi \in \mathcal{D}_{\alpha,\beta}$, let us set

$$\widetilde{\psi}(x) := |x|^{-2\alpha - 1} \sigma \cdot \frac{x}{|x|} \psi(x).$$

Then one has $\widetilde{\psi} \in \mathcal{D}_{-\alpha-1,\beta-2\alpha-1}$ and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\sigma \cdot \nabla \widetilde{\psi}(x)|^2}{|x|^{-2(\alpha+1)}} \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\sigma \cdot \nabla \psi(x)|^2}{|x|^{2\alpha}} \, dx \quad \text{and} \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\widetilde{\psi}(x)|^p}{|x|^{(\beta-2\alpha-1)p}} \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\psi(x)|^p}{|x|^{\beta p}} \, dx.$$

These identities follow by a straightforward computation, but they will become obvious later in this introduction. As a consequence, we deduce that

$$\mathscr{C}_{\alpha,\beta} = \mathscr{C}_{-\alpha-1,\beta-2\alpha-1}$$
 and $\mathscr{C}^{\star}_{\alpha,\beta} = \mathscr{C}^{\star}_{-\alpha-1,\beta-2\alpha-1}$

Moreover, minimizers for the inequality with parameters (α, β) are in one-to-one correspondence with minimizers for the inequality with parameters $(-\alpha - 1, \beta - 2\alpha - 1)$. Note that the exponent *p* in (1) is the same for both parameter pairs. Moreover, parameter pairs with $\alpha = -\frac{1}{2}$ are invariant under the transformation. As a consequence of this transformation we restrict ourselves in the following theorem to parameter values $\alpha \ge -1/2$.

The following is a first version of our main result.

Theorem 3. There are optimizers for (SCKN) for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \Lambda$ and $\alpha < \beta < \alpha + 1$. Moreover, there are two functions $\overline{\alpha}_{\star}$ and $\overline{\alpha}^{\star}$ on (0,1), taking values respectively in (-1/2,0] and [1/2,1), such that the following holds for all $\alpha \in [-1/2,\infty) \setminus \Lambda$ and $\alpha < \beta < \alpha + 1$:

- (i) if either $\overline{\alpha}_{\star}(\beta \alpha) < \alpha < 1/2$ or $1/2 < \alpha < \overline{\alpha}^{\star}(\beta \alpha)$, then $\mathscr{C}_{\alpha,\beta} = \mathscr{C}_{\alpha,\beta}^{\star}$ and all optimizers are then symmetric,
- (ii) if either $-1/2 \le \alpha < \overline{\alpha}_{\star}(\beta \alpha)$ or $\alpha > \overline{\alpha}^{\star}(\beta \alpha)$, then $\mathscr{C}_{\alpha,\beta} < \mathscr{C}_{\alpha,\beta}^{\star}$

The corresponding results are valid for $\alpha \in (-\infty, -1/2]$ *in view of the symmetry of the problem under the map* $(\alpha, \beta) \mapsto (-\alpha - 1, \beta - 2\alpha - 1)$.

Theorem 3 is only a qualitative version of what we will prove. Namely, we will give quantitative upper and lower bounds on the functions $\overline{\alpha}_{\star}$ and $\overline{\alpha}^{\star}$; see Remark 7. A graphical representation of what we prove can be seen in Figure 1.

Already on a qualitative level our results concerning the spinorial inequality (SCKN) are quite different from the results concerning the scalar inequality (CKN). In the spinorial case, each line $\beta - \alpha \equiv \text{const} \in (0, 1)$ intersects the symmetry region in two bounded intervals, while such an intersection by a line $b - a \equiv \text{const} \in (0, 1)$ occurs only in a single interval in the scalar case (up to the case a = 1/2 which is trivial because $C_{1/2,b,3} = 0$). Another difference is that in the spinorial case symmetry can occur only for $-2 \le \alpha \le 1$, while in the scalar case it can occur for arbitrarily large $a \in \mathbb{R}$. We also note that in the spinorial case the figure is symmetric with respect to $\alpha = -1/2$, while it is symmetric with respect to a = +1/2 in the scalar case. Our results are summarized in Figure 1.



FIGURE 1. Symmetry regions are shown in green and symmetry breaking regions appear in red. The upper left corner represents the parameter domain for (CKN) inequalities (scalar functions), while the main figure is the parameter domain for (SCKN) inequalities (spinors). In the latter case, the threshold between symmetry and symmetry breaking is determined by the functions $\overline{\alpha}_{\star}$ and $\overline{\alpha}^{\star}$ which take values in the white areas of the strip $\alpha \leq \beta \leq \alpha + 1$.

2. PASSING TO LOGARITHMIC VARIABLES AND MAIN RESULT (II)

Our goal in this section is to bring inequality (SCKN) into an equivalent form and state a more precise version of Theorem 3 in this equivalent reformulation.

A crucial feature of Inequality (SCKN), just like of (CKN), is its scale invariance. In logarithmic coordinates, this invariance becomes translation invariance, and these coordinates have been useful in the study of Inequality (CKN). Correspondingly, we will now state an equivalent form of Inequality (SCKN) in logarithmic coordinates.

Lemma 4. If we set $s = \log r$, $r = |x| \neq 0$, $\omega = x/r$ and define a function ϕ on $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2$ by $\psi(x) = r^{\alpha - 1/2} \phi(s, \omega)$, then Inequality (SCKN) becomes

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2} \left(\left| \partial_s \phi \right|^2 + \left| \left(\sigma \cdot L - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} \right) \phi \right|^2 \right) ds \, d\omega \ge C_{\alpha, p} \left(\iint_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2} \left| \phi \right|^p ds \, d\omega \right)^{2/p}.$$
(SCKN_{log})

The optimal constant is $C_{\alpha,p} = (4\pi)^{(2-p)/p} \mathscr{C}_{\alpha,\beta}$, where α, β and p are related by (1).

We parametrize the constant in (SCKN_{log}) by α and p, because β does not appear explicitly in this inequality. The parameters under consideration are now $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ and $p \in [2,6]$. According to Proposition 1 we have $C_{\alpha,p} > 0$ if and only if $\alpha \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \Lambda$.

In logarithmic coordinates the before-mentioned symmetry between (α, β) and $(-\alpha - 1, \beta - 2\alpha - 1)$ can be seen as follows. For an arbitrary function ϕ , using (5) and setting $\eta = (\sigma \cdot \omega)\phi$, (SCKN_{log}) takes the form

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2} \left(\left| \partial_s \eta \right|^2 + \left| \left(\sigma \cdot L + \alpha + \frac{3}{2} \right) \eta \right|^2 \right) ds \, d\omega \ge C_{\alpha, p} \left(\iint_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2} \left| \eta \right|^p ds \, d\omega \right)^{2/p}. \tag{6}$$

This puts into evidence that

 $C_{-(\alpha+1),p} = C_{\alpha,p}.$

An optimizer for (SCKN_{log}) is transformed by $\phi \mapsto (\sigma \cdot \omega) \phi$ into an optimizer for (6) and reciprocally because $(\sigma \cdot \omega)^2 = 1$.

The concept of symmetry translates as follows to logarithmic coordinates.

Definition 5. A spinor ϕ on $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2$ is symmetric if there is a scalar, complex-valued function u on \mathbb{R} and a constant spinor $\chi_0 \in \mathbb{C}^2$ such that either

$$\phi(s,\omega) = u(s) \chi_0$$
 for a.e. $(s,\omega) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2$,

or

$$\phi(s,\omega) = u(s)\,\sigma\cdot\omega\,\chi_0 \quad \text{for a.e.} \ (s,\omega)\in\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2.$$

We call these symmetric spinors of type \mathcal{H}_0 and \mathcal{H}_{-2} , respectively.

Let $C_{\alpha,p}^{\star} = (4\pi)^{(2-p)/p} \mathscr{C}_{\alpha,\beta}^{\star}$ be the best constant in (SCKN_{log}) restricted to the space of symmetric functions ϕ as in Definition 5, for $\alpha \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \Lambda$. Computing $C_{\alpha,p}^{\star}$ and identifying the equality cases can be reduced to the case of a Gagliardo-Nirenberg interpolation inequality on \mathbb{R} : see Appendix A. Up to translation and multiplication by a constant, any optimizer among symmetric spinors satisfies the form of Definition 5 with

$$u(s) = \left(\cosh(s/s_0)\right)^{-2/(p-2)} \quad \forall s \in \mathbb{R},\tag{7}$$

for some $s_0 > 0$, which depends only on α and p. Moreover, symmetric spinors are of type \mathcal{H}_0 if $\alpha > -1/2$ and of type \mathcal{H}_{-2} if $\alpha < -1/2$. Note that this is consistent with the symmetry between (α, p) and $(-\alpha - 1, p)$, since the map $\phi \mapsto (\sigma \cdot \omega) \phi$ maps \mathcal{H}_0 to \mathcal{H}_{-2} .

The question raised above becomes:

For which α and p are the global optimizers for Inequality (SCKN_{log}) symmetric ? Symmetry and symmetry breaking regions are considered as *open sets* in $\mathbb{R} \times (2,6) \ni (\alpha, p)$: symmetry breaking means $C_{\alpha,p} < C_{\alpha,p}^{\star}$ while symmetry means $C_{\alpha,p} = C_{\alpha,p}^{\star}$ and all optimizers are then symmetric. In strong contrast with the scalar case (see Fig. 1), our main result goes as follows.

Theorem 6. There are optimizers for (SCKN_{log}) for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \Lambda$ and $p \in (2,6)$. Moreover, there are two functions α_{\star} and α^{\star} on (2,6), taking values respectively in (-1/2,0] and [1/2,1), such that the following holds for all $\alpha \in [-1/2,\infty)$ and 2 :

(i) symmetry holds if either $\alpha_{\star}(p) < \alpha < 1/2$ or $1/2 < \alpha < \alpha^{\star}(p)$,

(ii) symmetry breaking holds if either $-1/2 \le \alpha < \alpha_{\star}(p)$, or $\alpha > \alpha^{\star}(p)$.

Symmetry and symmetry breaking regions are invariant under the reflection with respect to $\alpha = -1/2$, i.e., the transformation $(\alpha, p) \mapsto (-(\alpha + 1), p)$, so that the range $\alpha < -1/2$ is also covered. The functions α_* and α^* are such that

$$-\frac{1}{2} \le \max\{\alpha_1(p), \alpha_2(p)\} \le \alpha_\star(p) \le \min\{0, \alpha_0(p)\}$$

and
$$\min\{\alpha_3(p), \alpha_4(p)\} \le \alpha^\star(p) \le \alpha_5(p)$$

where

$$\begin{split} &\alpha_0(p) \coloneqq \frac{4 - \sqrt{-3\,p^2 + 20\,p - 12}}{2\,(p - 2)}, & \alpha_1(p) \coloneqq \frac{2\,p^2 - 7\,p - 6 - \sqrt{3\,(19\,p^2 - 20\,p + 12)}}{4\,p\,(p - 2)}, \\ &\alpha_2(p) \coloneqq \frac{p^2 - 2\,p + 24 - 2\,\sqrt{3\,(11\,p^2 - 4\,p + 12)}}{2\,(p - 2)\,(p + 6)}, & \alpha_3(p) \coloneqq \frac{6 - p}{2\,(p - 2)}, \\ &\alpha_4(p) \coloneqq \frac{3\,p - 10 + \sqrt{-3\,p^2 + 20\,p - 12}}{4\,(p - 2)}, & \alpha_5(p) \coloneqq \frac{2\,p^2 + 5\,p - 30 + \sqrt{3\,(19\,p^2 - 20\,p + 12)}}{4\,(p - 2)\,(p + 3)}. \end{split}$$

If $\alpha \in (\alpha_{\star}(p), 1/2) \cup (1/2, \alpha^{\star}(p))$, then $C_{\alpha,p} = C_{\alpha,p}^{\star}$ and all optimizers are symmetric.

For $\alpha = \alpha_{\star}(p)$ or $\alpha = \alpha^{\star}(p)$, then we have $C_{\alpha,p} = C_{\alpha,p}^{\star}$ and there is a symmetric optimizer. Whether in this case *all* optimizers are symmetric or not is an open question. In Fig. 2 below, we synthetize the results of Theorem 6.



FIGURE 2. Inequality (SCKN_{log}) for spinors and, for sake of comparison, its counterpart for scalars. The threshold between symmetry and symmetry breaking is determined by the functions $p \mapsto \alpha_{\star}(p)$ and $p \mapsto \alpha^{\star}(p)$ which take values in the white areas of the strip $2 \le p \le 6$. The curves corresponding to the *ansatz* for symmetry breaking and those which determine the symmetry regions will be made clear in the proofs; also see Figs. 3 and 4.

Remark 7. The equivalence between (SCKN) and (SCKN_{log}) shows that Theorem 3 is equivalent to the first part of Theorem 6 via

$$\overline{\alpha}_{\star}(\beta - \alpha) = \alpha_{\star}\left(\frac{6}{1 - 2\alpha + 2\beta}\right), \quad \overline{\alpha}^{\star}(\beta - \alpha) = \alpha^{\star}\left(\frac{6}{1 - 2\alpha + 2\beta}\right).$$

This allows us to translate the bounds on α_{\star} and α^{\star} into bounds on $\overline{\alpha}_{\star}$ and $\overline{\alpha}^{\star}$.

The reader familiar with the large literature on the sharp constant in (CKN) will probably recognize the various strategies that we employ to prove symmetry or symmetry breaking. Looking closely at the details of how these strategies are implemented here, however, one finds substantial differences and, as a general rule, the present spinorial case is considerably more involved than the scalar case. A posteriori, this is not surprising, of course, given the more complicated shape of (SCKN) compared to (CKN).

More specifically, in Section 5 we employ a monotonicity argument that is similar in spirit to an argument that appears in [32, 14]. In contrast to the scalar case, when applying this argument for $\alpha \ge -1/2$ one has to distinguish the cases where $\alpha < 1/2$ and $\alpha > 1/2$. In Section 6 we employ an argument that is based on Gagliardo-Nirenberg interpolation inequalities on the sphere, inspired by [12]. The corresponding Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality is new and might be interesting on its own. When adapting the strategy from [12] we overcome the difficulties from the spinorial nature through a judicious application of Minkowski's inequality. Finally, in Section 7 we derive a symmetry breaking region by analyzing the stability of symmetric solutions in the spirit of [21]. Here again a subtlety appears, since the spinorial inequality (SCKN) is intrinsically complex and the second variation operator is real-linear but not complex-linear. We manage to find a nontrivial symmetry breaking region, but in contrast to the scalar case, we are not able to determine the complete instability region.

One reason for these differences between the spinorial and the scalar case is the following. In logarithmic variables we find the angular operator $(\sigma \cdot L - \alpha + 1/2)^2$; see Lemma 4. Normalizing this operator so that it vanishes on constant spinors, we arrive at the effective angular operator $\mathcal{K}_{\alpha} = (\sigma \cdot L)^2 + (1 - 2\alpha)\sigma \cdot L$. Repeating the same in the scalar case we arrive first at the operator $L^2 + (\alpha - 1/2)^2$ and then, after normalization, at the effective angular operator $\mathcal{K}^{\text{scalar}} = L^2$, which *is independent of* α . Not only does \mathcal{K}_{α} depend on α , but this dependence is also non-monotone, since $\sigma \cdot L$ is unbounded both from above and from below. Dealing with the α -dependence of the effective angular operator is the cause of many of the difficulties that we face in this work and is one of the main new obstacles that we overcome in this paper.

Despite these difference, however, it is perhaps an interesting observation that the strategies that have previously been employed for the scalar (CKN) problem are not entirely linked to the specifics of the problem. They are more robust than one might have imagined and may have a wider applicability.

Needless to say that the results obtained in this paper are not sharp in the sense that they do not cover the full parameter regime. Giving a complete description of the symmetry and symmetry breaking regions is an *open problem*.

The paper is organized as follows. In Section 3 we discuss the reformulation in logarithmic coordinates and consider, in particular, the limit case p = 2, where Inequality (SCKN) becomes a Hardy-like inequality for which the best constant can be computed explicitly. Existence of optimizers is proved if $\alpha < \beta < \alpha + 1$ in Section 4. Sections 5 and 6 provide us with symmetry results for (SCKN_{log}), while in Section 7 we find regions where the symmetric solutions are linearly unstable. The proof of Theorem 6 is established in Section 8.

Notation. We denote the canonical inner product of $\psi_1, \psi_2 \in \mathbb{C}^2$ both by $\langle \psi_1, \psi_2 \rangle$ and by $\psi_1^* \psi_2$, according to typographical convenience. The corresponding norm is denoted by $|\psi| = \sqrt{\langle \psi, \psi \rangle} = \sqrt{\psi^* \psi}$.

3. CHANGES OF COORDINATES AND PRELIMINARY ESTIMATES

We begin with a computation that is crucial for much that follows.

Proposition 8. For $\psi \in \mathcal{D}_{\alpha,\beta}$, setting $\psi(x) = |x|^{\alpha - 1/2} \Phi(x)$, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\sigma \cdot \nabla \psi|^2}{|x|^{2\alpha}} dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\partial_r \Phi|^2}{|x|} dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{\left|\left(\sigma \cdot L - \alpha + \frac{1}{2}\right)\Phi\right|^2}{|x|^2} dx.$$
(8)

Here we use the notation r = |x| and $\partial_r \psi = \frac{x}{r} \cdot \nabla \psi$. On \mathbb{R}^3 , the angular momentum is defined by

$$L := x \wedge (-i \nabla).$$

This definition extends to \mathbb{R}^3 the operator *L* acting on spinors on \mathbb{S}^2 , as in Section 1.

Proof. For any $x \in \mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{0\}$, we compute

$$\frac{1}{|x|^{2\alpha}} \left(\sigma \cdot \nabla \psi \right)^* \left(\sigma \cdot \nabla \psi \right) = \frac{1}{|x|} \left(\sigma \cdot \nabla \Phi \right)^* \left(\sigma \cdot \nabla \Phi \right) + \frac{1}{|x|^3} \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2} \right)^2 |\Phi|^2 + \frac{2}{|x|^3} \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2} \right) \operatorname{Re} \left(\left(\sigma \cdot \nabla \Phi \right)^* \left(\sigma \cdot x \right) \Phi \right).$$

Since $\nabla \cdot (x |x|^{-3}) = 0$ and $(\sigma \cdot a) (\sigma \cdot b) = a \cdot b + i \sigma \cdot (a \wedge b)$, we learn that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} (\sigma \cdot \nabla \Phi)^* (\sigma \cdot x) \Phi \frac{dx}{|x|^3} = -\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \Phi^* (\sigma \cdot \nabla) \left(\sigma \cdot \frac{x}{|x|^3} \right) \Phi dx = -\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \Phi^* (\sigma \cdot L) \Phi \frac{dx}{|x|^3}.$$

Hence

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\sigma \cdot \nabla \psi|^2}{|x|^{2\alpha}} \, dx &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\sigma \cdot \nabla \Phi|^2}{|x|} \, dx + \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\Phi|^2}{|x|^3} \, dx \\ &- 2\left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right) \operatorname{Re}\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{\Phi^*\left(\sigma \cdot L\right)\Phi}{|x|^3} \, dx\right). \end{split}$$

We learn from [36, p. 125] that

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \nabla = \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \frac{\boldsymbol{x}}{r}\right) \boldsymbol{\partial}_r - \frac{1}{r} \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \frac{\boldsymbol{x}}{r}\right) \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{L}\right)$$

and use it to compute

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\sigma \cdot \nabla \Phi|^2}{|x|} \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\partial_r \Phi|^2}{|x|} \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\sigma \cdot L \Phi|^2}{|x|^3} \, dx$$

using the fact that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} (\partial_r \Phi)^* (\sigma \cdot L) \Phi \frac{dx}{|x|^2} = 0.$$

Collecting estimates, we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\sigma \cdot \nabla \psi|^2}{|x|^{2\alpha}} dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\partial_r \Phi|^2}{|x|} dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\sigma \cdot L \Phi|^2}{|x|^3} dx + \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\Phi|^2}{|x|^3} dx - 2\left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{\Phi^* \left(\sigma \cdot L\right) \Phi}{|x|^3} dx.$$

nis proves the claimed equality.

This proves the claimed equality.

A first consequence of Proposition 8 is the computation of the sharp constant $\mathscr{C}_{\alpha,\beta}$ in the limiting case $\beta = \alpha + 1$. This corresponds to p = 2 according to (1), so Inequality (SCKN) becomes a weighted Hardy-type inequality for spinors

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\sigma \cdot \nabla \psi(x)|^2}{|x|^{2\alpha}} \, dx \ge \mathscr{C}_{\alpha,\alpha+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\psi(x)|^2}{|x|^{2\alpha+2}} \, dx \,, \tag{9}$$

which generalizes (3).

Proposition 9. The optimal constant in Inequality (9) is given by

$$\mathscr{C}_{\alpha,\alpha+1} = \min_{k \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{-1\}} \left(k - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} \right)^2.$$
(10)

The constant $\mathscr{C}_{\alpha,\alpha+1}$ is positive if $\alpha \notin \Lambda$, while $\mathscr{C}_{\alpha,\alpha+1} = 0$ if $\alpha \in \Lambda$, with Λ given by (2). Moreover, we have an improved inequality given by

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\sigma \cdot \nabla \psi|^2}{|x|^{2\alpha}} dx \ge \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{1}{|x|^{2\alpha}} \left| \partial_r \psi - \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right) \frac{\psi}{|x|} \right|^2 dx + \mathscr{C}_{\alpha,\alpha+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\psi|^2}{|x|^{2\alpha+2}} dx.$$
(11)

The scalar analogue of (9) is well known; see e.g. Opic and Kufner's book on Hardy inequalities [33].

Proof. Inequality (11) with the constant $\mathscr{C}_{\alpha,\alpha+1}$ replaced by $\min_{k\in\mathbb{Z}\setminus\{-1\}}(k-\alpha+1/2)^2$ follows by rewriting the right-hand side of (8) in terms of ψ and observing that the spectrum of $(\sigma \cdot L - \alpha + 1/2)^2$ is the set $\{(k - \alpha + 1/2)^2 : k \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{-1\}\}$. Spectral properties of $\sigma \cdot L$ and related operators are further discussed in Appendix B. This proves $\mathscr{C}_{\alpha,\alpha+1} \geq \min_{k \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{-1\}} (k - \alpha + 1/2)^2.$

Let us call k_0 the integer k that realizes the minimum in (10). Still with the notations of Proposition 8, optimality in (9) is obtained by taking the limit as $n \to +\infty$ with the test function $\Phi_n(x) = g_n(|x|) \chi_{k_0}(x/|x|)$, where the function g_n is appropriately chosen, with the property that $g_n(r) = 1$ for any $r \in (1/n, n)$. \square

The second consequence of Proposition 8 is the rewriting of Inequality (SCKN) in logarithmic coordinates, as was done in [8] for (CKN).

Proof of Lemma 4. Let $\phi(s, \omega) = \Phi(r, \omega)$ with $s = \log r$, so that, in particular, $\partial_r \Phi = r^{-1} \partial_s \phi$. We recall that $d\omega$ is defined to be a probability measure, which gives rise to a factor of 4π . With this change of variables, we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\partial_r \Phi|^2}{|x|} dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{1}{|x|^3} |\partial_s \phi(s, \omega)|^2 dx = 4\pi \iint_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2} |\partial_s \phi|^2 ds d\omega,$$

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{\left| \left(\sigma \cdot L - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} \right) \Phi \right|^2}{|x|^2} dx = 4\pi \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left| \left(\sigma \cdot L - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} \right) \phi \right|^2 dx,$$

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\Phi|^p}{|x|^3} dx = 4\pi \iint_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2} |\phi|^p ds d\omega.$$

With $\psi(x) = |x|^{\alpha - 1/2} \Phi(x)$ as in Proposition 8, so that in particular

$$\frac{|\psi|^p}{|x|^{\beta p}} = \frac{|\Phi|^p}{|x|^3},$$

this proves that (SCKN) written for ψ on \mathbb{R}^3 is equivalent to (SCKN_{log}) written for ϕ on $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2$, with same optimal constants.

In order to prove Proposition 1, we observe that the left-hand side of $(SCKN_{log})$ is coercive in $H^1(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2)$ for all $\alpha \notin \Lambda$ because of the following estimate for spinors on \mathbb{S}^2 .

Lemma 10. For every $\alpha \notin \Lambda$, there exists $\varepsilon(\alpha) \in (0, 1]$ such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}^2} \left| \left(\sigma \cdot L - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} \right) \chi \right|^2 d\omega \ge \varepsilon(\alpha) \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} \left(|L\chi|^2 + |\chi|^2 \right) d\omega \quad \forall \, \chi \in \mathrm{H}^1(\mathbb{S}^2) \,. \tag{12}$$

Proof. Since $\operatorname{Sp}(\sigma \cdot L) = \{k \in \mathbb{Z} : k \neq -1\}$ and $\operatorname{Sp}(L^2) = \{\ell (\ell+1) : \ell \in \mathbb{N}\}$ (using the notation $\mathbb{N} = \{0, 1, 2, \ldots\}$) with the relations $k = \ell$ if $k \ge 0$ and $k = -\ell - 1$ if $k \le -2$, on \mathcal{H}_k we have $(\sigma \cdot L) = k$ and $L^2 = k(k+1)$. This proves that (12) holds with

$$\varepsilon(\alpha) = \min_{k \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{-1\}} \frac{\left(k - \alpha + \frac{1}{2}\right)^2}{k(k+1) + 1}$$

It is easy to check that $\varepsilon(\alpha) > 0$ for all $\alpha \notin \Lambda$.

Proof of Proposition 1. If $\alpha \notin \Lambda$, then we have

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2} \left(\left| \partial_s \phi \right|^2 + \left| \left(\sigma \cdot L - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} \right) \phi \right|^2 \right) ds \, d\omega \ge \varepsilon(\alpha) \iint_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2} \left(\left| \partial_s \phi \right|^2 + \left| L \phi \right|^2 + \left| \phi \right|^2 \right) ds \, d\omega$$

by Lemma 10. The above right-hand side is bounded from below by $\varepsilon(\alpha) C_p \|\phi\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2)}^2$, where C_p is the optimal constant in the embedding $H^1(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2) \hookrightarrow L^p(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2)$. This proves $\mathscr{C}_{\alpha,\beta} \ge \varepsilon(\alpha) C_p > 0$.

If $\alpha \in \Lambda$, there is a spinor $\chi \neq 0$ on \mathbb{S}^2 with $(\sigma \cdot L - \alpha + 1/2) \chi = 0$. For any $\beta \in [\alpha, \alpha + 1]$ consider *p* determined by (1) and a family of test functions $\phi_{\varepsilon}(s, \omega) = \varepsilon^{1/p} u(\varepsilon s) \chi(\omega)$ such that $\|\phi_1\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2)} = 1$. Then $\|\phi_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2)} = 1$ is independent of $\varepsilon > 0$, while

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0_+} \iint_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2} \left(\left| \partial_s \phi_{\varepsilon} \right|^2 + \left| \left(\sigma \cdot L - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} \right) \phi_{\varepsilon} \right|^2 \right) ds \, d\omega = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0_+} \left\| \partial_s \phi_{\varepsilon} \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2)}^2 = 0.$$

This shows that $\mathscr{C}_{\alpha,\beta} = 0$ for $\alpha \in \Lambda$ and any $\beta \in [\alpha, \alpha + 1]$.

As a consequence of Lemma 10, the space $\mathscr{D}_{\alpha,\beta}$ in (SCKN) is transformed into $\mathrm{H}^1(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2)$ if $\alpha \notin \Lambda$ and the left-hand side in (SCKN_{log}) is equivalent to the standard norm of $\mathrm{H}^1(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2)$.

4. EXISTENCE OF OPTIMIZERS

Here we prove the following existence result.

Theorem 11. For all $p \in (2, 6)$ and all $\alpha \notin \Lambda$, the best constant $C_{\alpha, p}$ in Inequality (SCKN_{log}) is attained in $H^1(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2) \setminus \{0\}$.

Proof. Here we follow very closely the arguments in the proof of [8, Theorem 1.2 (i)] and [10]. Let us consider a sequence $(\phi_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ in $\mathrm{H}^1(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2)$ such that $\|\phi_n\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2)} = 1$ for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \left(\iint_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2} |\partial_s \phi_n|^2 \, ds \, d\omega + \iint_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2} \left| \left(\sigma \cdot L - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} \right)^2 \phi_n \right|^2 \, ds \, d\omega \right) = C_{\alpha, p} \,. \tag{13}$$

Because of Lemma 10, we know that $(\phi_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is bounded in $\mathrm{H}^1(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2)$.

Take any fixed r > 0 and consider $A_r(\sigma) := (\sigma - r, \sigma + r) \times \mathbb{S}^2$ for $\sigma \in \mathbb{R}$. We learn from [8, Lemma 4.1], which is adapted from [31, Lemma I.1, p. 231], that any bounded sequence $(f_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ in $\mathrm{H}^1(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{R})$ such that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{\sigma \in \mathbb{R}} \iint_{A_r(\sigma)} |f_n|^p \, ds \, d\omega = 0$$

satisfies $\lim_{n\to\infty} \|f_n\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2)} = 0$. The same result holds for spinors. Since

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|\phi_n\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2)} = 1 \neq 0$$

we deduce that there exists a constant $C \in (0, 1]$ and $\sigma_n \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\int_{A_r(\sigma_n)} |\phi_n|^p \, dy \ge C \quad \text{for } n \text{ large enough.}$$
(14)

Define $\tilde{\phi}_n(s,\omega) := \phi_n(s - \sigma_n, \omega)$. Up to the extraction of a subsequence, $(\tilde{\phi}_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges weakly in $H^1(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2)$, strongly in $L^p_{loc}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2)$ and almost everywhere to some spinor ϕ . Therefore, by (14), $\phi \equiv 0$ is forbidden and $x := \|\phi\|^p_{L^p(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2)} \in (0, 1]$. By the almost everywhere convergence and the Brezis-Lieb lemma (see [5, Theorem 1]) we find

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|\widetilde{\phi}_n\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2)}^p = \|\phi\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2)}^p + \lim_{n \to \infty} \|\widetilde{\phi}_n - \phi\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2)}^p$$

which, in view of the normalization of $\tilde{\phi}_n$, implies that

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} \|\widetilde{\phi}_n - \phi\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2)}^2 = (1-\mathsf{x})^{2/p}.$$

Meanwhile, by the weak convergence in $H^1(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2)$ we find

$$\begin{split} \lim_{n \to \infty} \left(\|\partial_s \widetilde{\phi}_n\|_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2)}^2 + \|\left(\sigma \cdot L - \alpha + \frac{1}{2}\right) \widetilde{\phi}_n\|_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2)}^2 \right) \\ &= \|\partial_s \phi\|_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2)}^2 + \|\left(\sigma \cdot L - \alpha + \frac{1}{2}\right) \phi\|_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2)}^2 \\ &+ \lim_{n \to \infty} \left(\|\partial_s \phi - \partial_s \widetilde{\phi}_n\|_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2)}^2 + \|\left(\sigma \cdot L - \alpha + \frac{1}{2}\right) (\phi - \widetilde{\phi}_n)\|_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2)}^2 \right). \end{split}$$

We bound the right side from below using Inequality (SCKN_{log}) for ϕ and for $\phi - \tilde{\phi}_n$. Recalling (13), we obtain

$$C_{\alpha,p} \ge C_{\alpha,p} \left(x^{2/p} + (1-x)^{2/p} \right).$$

From this we deduce that x = 1. Hence $(\tilde{\phi}_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to ϕ strongly in $L^p(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2)$. Moreover, in the application of Inequality (SCKN_{log}) for $\phi - \tilde{\phi}_n$ we must have asymptotically equality, which implies that $(\tilde{\phi}_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to ϕ also strongly in $H^1(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2)$. This proves that $\phi \neq 0$ is an optimal function for (SCKN_{log}).

5. A FIRST SYMMETRY RESULT AND A MONOTONICITY PROPERTY

We begin by proving symmetry of optimizers for $\alpha = 0$.

Lemma 12. If $\alpha = 0$ and $\beta \in [0, 1)$, any optimizer of (SCKN) is symmetric of type \mathcal{H}_0 .

Proof. We notice that, for any $\psi = \begin{pmatrix} \psi_1 \\ \psi_2 \end{pmatrix} \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^2)$, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\sigma \cdot \nabla \psi|^2 \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\nabla \psi|^2 \, dx,$$

where we use the notation $|\nabla \psi|^2 = \sum_{j=1}^3 \sum_{k=1}^2 |\partial_j \psi_k|^2$. We now use the scalar inequality (CKN) with $b = \beta$ and note that $C_{0,\beta,3} = \mathscr{C}_{0,\beta}^{\star}$ because optimizers of (CKN) are radial according to [9, 24, 14] if $a \in [0, 1/2)$ and $b \in [a, a + 1)$, eventually up to translation if (a, b) = (0, 0). In this way we obtain for k = 1, 2,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\nabla \psi_k|^2 \, dx \ge \mathscr{C}^{\star}_{0,\beta} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\psi_k(x)|^p}{|x|^{\beta p}} \, dx \right)^{2/p}.$$

Thus, we have shown that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\sigma \cdot \nabla \psi|^2 \, dx \ge \mathscr{C}_{0,\beta}^{\star} \left(\| |x|^{-\beta} \psi_1 \|_{\mathrm{L}^p(\mathbb{R}^3)}^2 + \| |x|^{-\beta} \psi_2 \|_{\mathrm{L}^p(\mathbb{R}^3)}^2 \right).$$

Since, by the triangle inequality in $L^{p/2}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^2)$,

$$\begin{aligned} \||x|^{-\beta}\psi_1\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(\mathbb{R}^3)}^2 + \||x|^{-\beta}\psi_2\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(\mathbb{R}^3)}^2 &= \||x|^{-2\beta}|\psi_1|^2\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)} + \||x|^{-2\beta}|\psi_2|^2\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)} \\ &\geq \||x|^{-2\beta} \left(|\psi_1|^2 + |\psi_2|^2\right)\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)} = \||x|^{-\beta}\psi\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(\mathbb{R}^3)}^2, \end{aligned}$$

we have shown Inequality (SCKN) with constant $\mathscr{C}_{0,\beta} = \mathscr{C}_{0,\beta}^{\star}$.

Now let us show the stronger statement that every optimizer ψ for the inequality is symmetric. For clarity we first consider the case $\beta > 0$. The scalar inequality (CKN) needs to be saturated for both scalar functions ψ_1 and ψ_2 , so there are $c_k \in \mathbb{C}$ and $a_k > 0$ such that

$$\psi_k(x) = c_k v_{\star}(x/a_k)$$
 with $k = 1, 2$.

Here v_{\star} is an explicit, radial, positive function, and we can assume that $a_1 = 1$ without loss of generality. We used here the characterization of cases of equality for (CKN) for a = 0. Equality in the triangle inequality in $L^{p/2}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^2)$ implies that either $|x|^{-2\beta} |\psi_2|^2 = 0$ or that there is a $c \ge 0$ such that $|x|^{-2\beta} |\psi_1|^2 = c |x|^{-2\beta} |\psi_2|^2$. Clearly, this is the same as either having $c_2 = 0$ or $|c_1| v_{\star}(x/a_1) = \sqrt{c} |c_2| v_{\star}(x/a_2)$ for all x. By the properties of v_{\star} we see that the second option is equivalent to $a_1 = a_2$ and $|c_1| = \sqrt{c} |c_2|$. Thus, in either case we have

$$\psi(x) = \nu_{\star}(x) \chi \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^3,$$

where $\chi := \begin{pmatrix} c_1 \\ c_2 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{C}^2$ is a constant spinor. This proves the symmetry of any optimizer when $\beta > 0$. The argument in the case $\beta = 0$ is similar, but one needs to take translations into account as well. We omit the details.

Remark 13. In the previous proof we assumed implicitly that the scalar inequality (CKN) holds for complex functions with the same constant as for real functions. This is well known and can be proved with essentially the same argument as in the above proof, where the real inequality is applied to Reu and Imu. Alternatively, one can repeat the proof with four real functions $\text{Re}\psi_1$, $\text{Im}\psi_1$, $\text{Re}\psi_2$, $\text{Im}\psi_2$, based only on the real version of Inequality (CKN).

The result of Lemma 12 can be rephrased into an equivalent result in logarithmic variables: for any $p \in (2,6]$, we have $C_{0,p} = C_{0,p}^{\star}$ and if $p \in (2,6)$ optimizers of (SCKN_{log}) are given by (7) up to translation in *s* and multiplication by a constant spinor in \mathbb{C}^2 . Among symmetric functions, when $\alpha \ge -1/2$ Inequality (SCKN_{log}) is reduced to the one-dimensional Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality

$$\| u' \|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})}^{2} + \lambda \| u \|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})}^{2} \ge K_{\lambda,p} \| u \|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R})}^{2}$$
(15)

with $\lambda = \lambda(\alpha) = (\alpha - 1/2)^2$, $K_{\lambda,p} = C^{\star}_{\alpha,p}$ and *p* given by (1). See Appendix A for details. The rescaling $s \mapsto \sqrt{\lambda} s$ shows that $K_{\lambda,p} = \lambda^{(p+2)/(2p)} K_{1,p}$. For any $t \ge 1$, let

$$\alpha_t := \frac{1}{2} - \left(\frac{1}{2} - \alpha\right) t$$

so that $\lambda(\alpha_t) = \lambda(\alpha) t^2$ and, as a consequence,

$$C_{\alpha_t,p}^{\star} = C_{\alpha,p}^{\star} t^{1+\frac{2}{p}}.$$
(16)

We refer to Proposition 29 in Appendix A for more details. It turns out that we can also use a scaling in the $s = \log |x|$ direction in (SCKN_{log}) even for non-symmetric functions. Here is how one can argue, as in [32] or in [14, Lemma 4.1] in the scalar case. Let us define the functional

$$\mathscr{G}_{\alpha}[\phi] := \frac{\|\partial_{s}\phi\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^{2})}^{2} + \left\|\left(\sigma\cdot L + \frac{1}{2} - \alpha\right)\phi\right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^{2})}^{2}}{\|\phi\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^{2})}^{2}}.$$
(17)

Proposition 14. Assume that either $(\alpha, p) \in (-1/2, 1/2) \times (2, 6)$ or $(\alpha, p) \in (1/2, 3/2) \times (2, 6)$. *If one of the two conditions is satisfied:*

(i) either $C_{\alpha,p} < C_{\alpha,p}^{\star}$

(ii) or there is a non-symmetric function $\phi \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^2)$ such that $\mathscr{G}_{\alpha}[\phi] = C_{\alpha,p} = C_{\alpha,p}^{\star}$ then we have

$$C_{\alpha',p} < C^{\star}_{\alpha',p} \quad \forall \, \alpha' \in [-1/2,\alpha) \quad if \quad \alpha < 1/2 \quad and \qquad \forall \, \alpha' \in (\alpha,3/2) \quad if \quad \alpha > 1/2 \,.$$

Here a non-symmetric ϕ means that ϕ is not symmetric of type \mathcal{H}_0 and consequently $\|\sigma \cdot L\phi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2)} \neq 0$. Proposition 14 combined with Lemma 12 extends for instance the range of symmetry to any $\alpha \in [0, 1/2)$. However it has further consequences as we shall see in Corollary 15.

Proof. Assume that $\alpha \in (-1/2, 1/2)$. For any $\phi \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^2)$, let $\phi_t(s, \omega) := \phi(t s, \omega)$ for any real constant t > 1 and $\alpha_t := \frac{1}{2} - (\frac{1}{2} - \alpha) t$, such that $\frac{1}{2} - \alpha_t = (\frac{1}{2} - \alpha) t$. Changing variables

in (17), we obtain

$$\mathscr{G}_{\alpha_{t}}[\phi_{t}] = t^{\frac{2}{p}-1} \frac{t^{2} \|\partial_{s}\phi\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^{2})}^{2} + \left\|\left(\sigma\cdot L + \left(\frac{1}{2}-\alpha\right)t\right)\phi\right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^{2})}^{2}}{\left\|\phi\right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^{2})}^{2}}$$

and, as a consequence,

$$\begin{split} \|\phi\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2)}^2 \left(\mathcal{G}_{\alpha_t}[\phi_t] - t^{1+\frac{2}{p}} \mathcal{G}_{\alpha}[\phi]\right) \\ &= t^{\frac{2}{p}-1} (1-t) \left((1+t) \left\| \sigma \cdot L\phi \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2)}^2 + t \left(1-2\alpha\right) \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} \left\langle \phi, \sigma \cdot L\phi \right\rangle d\omega \right). \end{split}$$

Let $\phi = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{-1\}} \phi_k$ be the spectral decomposition (see Appendix B) of ϕ on the eigenspaces of $\sigma \cdot L$ such that $\sigma \cdot L \phi_k = k \phi_k$. We have

$$\mathscr{R} := (1+t) \| \sigma \cdot L\phi \|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^{2})}^{2} + t (1-2\alpha) \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} \left\langle \phi, \sigma \cdot L\phi \right\rangle d\omega = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{-1\}} \| \phi_{k} \|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^{2})}^{2} h(k,t)$$

with $h(k, t) := (1 + t) k^2 + (1 - 2\alpha) k t$. The assumption $\alpha \in (-1/2, 1/2)$ implies that h(k, t) is non-negative if $(k, t) \in (\mathbb{Z} \setminus \{-1\}) \times (1, +\infty)$ and vanishes if and only if k = 0. We deduce that $\Re \ge 0$ and therefore

$$\mathscr{G}_{\alpha_t}[\phi_t] - t^{1+\frac{2}{p}} \mathscr{G}_{\alpha}[\phi] = t^{\frac{2}{p}-1} (1-t) \mathscr{R} \le 0 \quad \forall t > 1.$$

In case (i) let $\phi \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^2)$ be such that $C_{\alpha,p} \leq \mathcal{G}_{\alpha}[\phi] < C^{\star}_{\alpha,p}$. It is then clear that \mathscr{R} is positive because otherwise we have $\phi(s, \cdot) \in \mathscr{H}_0$ for a.e. $s \in \mathbb{R}$, which would imply that ϕ is symmetric and consequently $\mathcal{G}_{\alpha}[\phi] \geq C^{\star}_{\alpha,p}$, contradicting the choice of ϕ . In case (ii), we apply the argument with the given non-symmetric function ϕ and not that this non-symmetry implies $\mathscr{R} > 0$. Thus, in either case we find a function ϕ such that

$$\mathscr{G}_{\alpha_t}[\phi_t] - t^{1+\frac{2}{p}} \mathscr{G}_{\alpha}[\phi] < 0 \quad \forall t > 1.$$

Now for any α' such that $-1/2 \le \alpha' < \alpha < 1/2$, let $t = \frac{1-2\alpha'}{1-2\alpha} > 1$, i.e., $\alpha' = \alpha_t$. Altogether we obtain

$$C_{\alpha',p} \le \mathcal{G}_{\alpha_t}[\phi_t] < t^{1+\frac{2}{p}} \mathcal{G}_{\alpha}[\phi] \le t^{1+\frac{2}{p}} C_{\alpha,p}^{\star} = C_{\alpha',p}^{\star}$$

where the equality follows from (16). This completes the proof if $\alpha \in (-1/2, 1/2)$.

The case $\alpha \in (1/2, 3/2)$ is similar, except that $\alpha_t := \frac{1}{2} - (\frac{1}{2} - \alpha) t > \alpha$ for any t > 1.

As a consequence of Lemma 12 and Proposition 14, symmetry in (SCKN) (and therefore also in (SCKN_{log})) holds for any $\alpha \in [0, 1/2)$. We can state a slightly better result as follows, in the spirit of [14, Theorem 1.2].

Corollary 15. There is a function α_* : (2,6) \rightarrow [-1/2,0] such that, for any $p \in (2,6)$,

(i) $C_{\alpha,p} < C_{\alpha,p}^{\star}$ if $-1/2 \le \alpha < \alpha_{\star}(p)$ and $C_{\alpha,p} = C_{\alpha,p}^{\star}$ if $\alpha_{\star}(p) \le \alpha < 1/2$,

(ii)
$$C_{\alpha,p} < C_{\alpha,p}^{\star} if - (1 + \alpha_{\star}(p)) < \alpha \le -1/2 and C_{\alpha,p} = C_{\alpha,p}^{\star} if - 3/2 < \alpha \le -(1 + \alpha_{\star}(p)).$$

Moreover, any optimizer is symmetric if $\alpha \in (-3/2, -(1 + \alpha_{\star}(p))) \cup (\alpha_{\star}(p), 1/2).$

Similarly, there is a function α^* : (2,6) \rightarrow [1/2,3/2] such that, for any $p \in (2,6)$,

(i) $C_{\alpha,p} < C^{\star}_{\alpha,p}$ if $\alpha^{\star}(p) < \alpha < 3/2$ and $C_{\alpha,p} = C^{\star}_{\alpha,p}$ if $1/2 < \alpha \le \alpha^{\star}(p)$,

(ii) $C_{\alpha,p} < C_{\alpha,p}^{\star}$ if $-5/2 < \alpha < -(1+\alpha^{\star}(p))$ and $C_{\alpha,p} = C_{\alpha,p}^{\star}$ if $-(1+\alpha^{\star}(p)) \le \alpha < -3/2$. Moreover, any optimizer is symmetric if $\alpha \in (-(1+\alpha^{\star}(p)), -3/2) \cup (1/2, \alpha^{\star}(p))$. *Proof.* It is easy to see from Proposition 14 that for a given $p \in (2,6)$, $\alpha_{\star}(p)$ can be defined as the infimum of the set $\{\alpha \in (-1/2, 1/2) : C_{\alpha,p} = C_{\alpha,p}^{\star}\} \supset [0, 1/2)$ where the inclusion follows from Lemma 12. The existence of a non-symmetric optimizer for some $\alpha \in (\alpha_{\star}(p), 1/2)$ would contradict Proposition 14, (ii). The results of (ii) for $\alpha \in (-1, -1/2)$ follow from (i) using (6). A similar discussion holds if $\alpha \in (-5/2, -3/2) \cup (1/2, 3/2)$.

6. A SECOND SYMMETRY RESULT

The main result of this section in Theorem 20, which gives a region where optimizers of $(SCKN_{log})$ are symmetric. An important ingredient in our proof is a Gagliardo-Nirenberg interpolation inequality for spinors on the sphere, which is interesting by itself and which is proved in the first subsection.

6.1. A Gagliardo-Nirenberg interpolation inequality for spinors on the sphere. Let us consider the operator

$$\mathscr{K}_{\alpha} := (\sigma \cdot L)^2 + (1 - 2\alpha) \, \sigma \cdot L$$

acting on angular spinors on \mathbb{S}^2 and define

$$m(\alpha) := \min\{1 - \alpha, 1 + 2\alpha\}$$

such that $m(\alpha) = 1 + 2\alpha$ if $\alpha \in (-1/2, 0]$ and $m(\alpha) = 1 - \alpha$ if $\alpha \in [0, 1)$, and

$$q(\alpha) := 4 - \frac{6}{\alpha}$$
 if $\alpha \in (-1/2, 0)$, $q(0) := +\infty$ and $q(\alpha) := 2 + \frac{2}{\alpha}$ if $\alpha \in (0, 1)$. (18)

Theorem 16. Let $\alpha \in (-1/2, 1)$ and $q \in (2, \infty)$. Then there is a constant $\mathscr{B}_{\alpha,q} > 0$ such that for all $\Phi \in \mathrm{H}^1(\mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2)$, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}^2} \langle \Phi, \mathcal{K}_{\alpha} \Phi \rangle \, d\omega \ge \frac{\mathscr{B}_{\alpha, q}}{q - 2} \Big(\|\Phi\|_{\mathrm{L}^q(\mathbb{S}^2, d\omega)}^2 - \|\Phi\|_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{S}^2, d\omega)}^2 \Big) \,. \tag{19}$$

Moreover, if $q \leq q(\alpha)$ *, then the inequality holds with* $\mathcal{B}_{\alpha,q} = 2m(\alpha)$ *and equality holds if and only if* $\Phi \in \mathcal{H}_0$ *, that is, if and only if* Φ *is a constant spinor.*

We have no reason to think that $\mathscr{B}_{\alpha,q} = 2 \operatorname{m}(\alpha)$ is optimal, even if $q \leq \operatorname{q}(\alpha)$. We recall that $d\omega$ is the uniform probability measure on \mathbb{S}^2 . In particular, if q > 2, by Hölder's inequality we have $\|\Phi\|_{L^q(\mathbb{S}^2,d\omega)}^2 - \|\Phi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{S}^2,d\omega)}^2 \geq 0$ and then equality holds if and only if $|\Phi|$ is constant.

Also notice that, by taking the limit as $q \to 2_+$ in the right-hand side of (19) and using $\mathscr{B}_{\alpha,q} = 2 \operatorname{m}(\alpha)$ for q sufficiently close to 2, for any $\alpha \in (-1/2, 1)$, we obtain the logarithmic Sobolev inequality

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}^2} \langle \Phi, \mathcal{K}_{\alpha} \Phi \rangle \, d\omega \geq \frac{1}{2} \,\mathsf{m}(\alpha) \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} |\Phi|^2 \, \log \left(\frac{|\Phi|^2}{\|\Phi\|_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{S}^2, d\omega)}^2} \right) d\omega \quad \forall \, \Phi \in \mathrm{H}^1(\mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2) \,.$$

We begin the proof of Theorem 16 by extending a well-known interpolation inequality obtained by Bidaut-Véron and Véron in [4] and Beckner in [2] for scalar functions on \mathbb{S}^2 , to spinors, before adapting it to the operator \mathcal{K}_{α} .

• An interpolation inequality for spinors. Let us review Beckner's rewriting [2] of Lieb's sharp Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev inequality [29] for scalar functions. Decomposing $F \in$

 $\mathrm{H}^{1}(\mathbb{S}^{2},\mathbb{C})$ into spherical harmonics, that is, writing

$$F = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} F_{\ell} \quad \text{with} \quad L^2 F_{\ell} = \ell \left(\ell + 1\right) F_{\ell},$$

we can formulate the sharp Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev inequality in the form

$$\frac{1}{q-2} \left(\|F\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{S}^{2},d\omega)}^{2} - \|F\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{S}^{2},d\omega)}^{2} \right) \leq \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \zeta_{\ell}(q) \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} |F_{\ell}|^{2} d\omega$$
(20)

with

$$\zeta_{\ell}(q) := \frac{\gamma_{\ell}(\frac{2}{q}) - 1}{q - 2} \quad \text{and} \quad \gamma_{\ell}(x) := \frac{\Gamma(x)\Gamma(\ell + 2 - x)}{\Gamma(2 - x)\Gamma(x + \ell)}$$

We refer to [2, Ineq. (19)] and also [17, Ineq. (1.6)] for more details. Let us recall how (20) is proved in [2]. Consider the sharp Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev inequality written on the sphere

$$0 \leq \iint_{\mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^2} \frac{\overline{F(\omega)} F(\omega')}{|\omega - \omega'|^{\lambda}} \, d\omega \, d\omega' \leq C_p \, \|F\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(\mathbb{S}^2)}^2, \tag{21}$$

where $\lambda = 4/q$, $1 \le p < 2$, 1/p + 1/q = 1 and C_p is the explicitly known sharp constant from [29]. Computing the eigenvalues of the integral operator with kernel $|\omega - \omega'|^{-\lambda}$ by means of the Funk-Hecke formula, we see that

$$\iint_{\mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^2} \frac{\overline{F(\omega)} F(\omega')}{|\omega - \omega'|^{\lambda}} d\omega d\omega' = C_p \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \gamma_{\ell} \left(\frac{2}{p}\right) \|F_{\ell}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{S}^2)}^2$$
(22)

with the constants $\gamma_{\ell}(2/p)$ defined above. (The details of this computation can be found, for instance, in [23].) Thus, Inequality (21) is equivalent to

$$\sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \gamma_{\ell} \left(\frac{2}{p}\right) \|F_{\ell}\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{S}^{2})}^{2} \leq \|F\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathbb{S}^{2})}^{2}$$

By duality, noting that $\gamma_{\ell}(2/p)^{-1} = \gamma_{\ell}(2/q)$ if *p* and *q* are Hölder conjugates, we see that this is equivalent to the inequality

$$\|F\|_{\mathrm{L}^{q}(\mathbb{S}^{2})}^{2} \leq \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \gamma_{\ell}(\frac{2}{q}) \|F_{\ell}\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{S}^{2})}^{2}.$$

The latter is a rewriting of (20), thus concluding the proof as in [2].

We can now generalize this method to the spinorial case. We decompose (angular) spinors Φ as

$$\Phi = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \Phi_{\ell} \quad \text{with} \quad L^2 \Phi_{\ell} = \ell \left(\ell + 1\right) \Phi_{\ell}.$$

Lemma 17. Let $q \in (2, \infty)$. For any spinor $\Phi \in H^1(\mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2)$, we have

$$\frac{1}{q-2} \left(\|\Phi\|_{\mathrm{L}^{q}(\mathbb{S}^{2},d\omega)}^{2} - \|\Phi\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{S}^{2},d\omega)}^{2} \right) \leq \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \zeta_{\ell}(q) \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} |\Phi_{\ell}|^{2} d\omega$$
(23)

with equality if and only if

$$\Phi(\omega) = (1 - \zeta \cdot \omega)^{-2/q} \chi_0$$

for some $\zeta \in \mathbb{R}^3$ with $|\zeta| < 1$ and some $\chi_0 \in \mathbb{C}^2$.

Proof. For $\Phi \in L^p(\mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2)$ we have

$$\iint_{\mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^2} \frac{\left\langle \Phi(\omega), \Phi(\omega') \right\rangle}{|\omega - \omega'|^{\lambda}} \, d\omega \, d\omega' \leq \iint_{\mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^2} \frac{|\Phi(\omega)| |\Phi(\omega')|}{|\omega - \omega'|^{\lambda}} \, d\omega \, d\omega'. \tag{24}$$

By the sharp Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev inequality (21) applied with $F = |\Phi|$, we obtain

$$\iint_{\mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^2} \frac{\left\langle \Phi(\omega), \Phi(\omega') \right\rangle}{|\omega - \omega'|^{\lambda}} \, d\omega \, d\omega' \le C_p \left\| \Phi \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(\mathbb{S}^2)}^2. \tag{25}$$

Meanwhile, we have

$$\iint_{\mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^2} \frac{\left\langle \Phi(\omega), \Phi(\omega') \right\rangle}{|\omega - \omega'|^{\lambda}} \, d\omega \, d\omega' = C_p \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \gamma_\ell \left(\frac{2}{p}\right) \|\Phi_\ell\|_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2)}^2. \tag{26}$$

Indeed, to see this, we can decompose $\Phi_{\ell} = \begin{pmatrix} \Phi_{\ell}^1 \\ \Phi_{\ell}^2 \end{pmatrix}$ and the components Φ_{ℓ}^1 and Φ_{ℓ}^2 are complex-valued spherical harmonics of degree ℓ . Since

$$\iint_{\mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^2} \frac{\left\langle \Phi(\omega), \Phi(\omega') \right\rangle}{|\omega - \omega'|^{\lambda}} \, d\omega \, d\omega' = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \iint_{\mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^2} \frac{\overline{\Phi_{\ell}^1(\omega)} \, \Phi_{\ell}^1(\omega')}{|\omega - \omega'|^{\lambda}} \, d\omega + \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \iint_{\mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^2} \frac{\overline{\Phi_{\ell}^2(\omega)} \, \Phi_{\ell}^2(\omega')}{|\omega - \omega'|^{\lambda}} \, d\omega,$$

we can apply the scalar result (22) and obtain the claimed equality (26).

By combining (25) and (26) we find

$$\sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \gamma_{\ell} \left(\frac{2}{p}\right) \|\Phi_{\ell}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{S}^{2},\mathbb{C}^{2})}^{2} \leq \|\Phi\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{S}^{2},\mathbb{C}^{2})}^{2},$$
(27)

and, by duality, with q = p/(p-1), we obtain

$$\|\Phi\|_{\mathrm{L}^{q}(\mathbb{S}^{2},\mathbb{C}^{2})}^{2} \leq \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \gamma_{\ell}\left(\frac{2}{q}\right) \|\Phi_{\ell}\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{S}^{2},\mathbb{C}^{2})}^{2}.$$

The latter is a rewriting of (23).

We now consider the cases of equality in (27). Equality in (24) holds if and only if $\langle \Phi(\omega), \Phi(\omega') \rangle = |\Phi(\omega)| |\Phi(\omega')|$ for a.e. $(\omega, \omega') \in \mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^2$. Writing

$$\Phi(\omega) = |\Phi(\omega)| U(\omega) \Phi_0,$$

where $\Phi_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$ and $U(\omega)$ is a 2 × 2 unitary matrix, we see that this is equivalent to $\langle U(\omega) \Phi_0, U(\omega') \Phi_0 \rangle = 1$ for a.e. $(\omega, \omega') \in \text{supp} \Phi \times \text{supp} \Phi$. This implies that there is a constant spinor $\tilde{\Phi}$ such that $U(\omega) \Phi_0 = \tilde{\Phi}$ for a.e. $\omega \in \text{supp} \Phi$. (Note that this is the case even if supp Φ has several connected components.) Thus, $\Phi/|\Phi|$ is a constant spinor on { $|\Phi| > 0$ }. Equality in (25) implies that $F = |\Phi|$ is an optimizer in the Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev inequality (21). By Lieb's characterization of those [29] we learn that $F(\omega) = c (1 - \zeta \cdot \omega)^{-(4-\lambda)/2}$ for some $\zeta \in \mathbb{R}^3$ with $|\zeta| < 1$ and some c > 0. Thus, equality in (27) holds if and only if $\Phi(\omega) = (1 - \zeta \cdot \omega)^{-(4-\lambda)/2} \chi_0$ for some $\chi_0 \in \mathbb{C}^2$ and some ζ as before.

By duality (more precisely, by the characterization of cases of equality in Hölder's inequality) we deduce the claimed form of functions for which Inequality (23) is saturated. $\hfill \Box$

• An estimate on the decomposition into spherical harmonics. Inequality (23) is phrased in terms of the decomposition of Φ in terms of spherical harmonics that are eigenfunctions of the operator L^2 . In contrast, Inequality (19) in Theorem 16 involves the operator $\sigma \cdot L$ and therefore we now decompose Φ with respect to the spectrum of the latter operator, that is, with respect to spinor spherical harmonics. We write

$$\Phi = \sum_{k=-\infty}^{-2} \chi_k + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \chi_k.$$
 (28)

This decomposition is related to the decomposition in Lemma 17 by $\Phi_{\ell} = \chi_{\ell} + \chi_{-(\ell+1)}$ for all $\ell \ge 0$. For a proof of this fact we refer to Appendix B; see, in particular, Corollary 34. Consequently, we can rewrite (23) as

$$\frac{\|\Phi\|_{\mathrm{L}^{q}(\mathbb{S}^{2},d\omega)}^{2}-\|\Phi\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{S}^{2},d\omega)}^{2}}{q-2}\leq\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\zeta_{k}(q)\int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}}|\chi_{k}|^{2}\,d\omega+\sum_{k=-\infty}^{-2}\zeta_{-(k+1)}(q)\int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}}|\chi_{k}|^{2}\,d\omega.$$

Noting that

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}^2} \langle \Phi, \mathcal{K}_{\alpha} \Phi \rangle \, d\omega = \sum_{k \neq -1} k \, (k+1-2\alpha) \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} |\chi_k|^2 \, d\omega,$$

we obtain Inequality (19) with

$$\mathscr{B}_{\alpha,q} := \min\left\{ \inf_{k \ge 1} \frac{k(k+1-2\alpha)}{\zeta_k(q)}, \inf_{k \le -2} \frac{k(k+1-2\alpha)}{\zeta_{-(k+1)}(q)} \right\}.$$
(29)

Thus, the proof of the first assertion of Theorem 16 is reduced to the proof that $\mathscr{B}_{\alpha,q} > 0$ for any $\alpha \in (-1/2, 1)$ and $q \in (2, \infty)$. Likewise, the proof of the second assertion is reduced to the proof that, for $q \leq q(\alpha)$, we have $\mathscr{B}_{\alpha,q} = 2 \operatorname{m}(\alpha)$ and the infimum in the definition of $\mathscr{B}_{\alpha,q}$ is attained only at either k = 1 or k = -2. We begin with the proof of the latter assertion.

Lemma 18. Let $\alpha \in (-1/2, 1)$. Then the following inequalities hold:

(a) Assuming $2 < q < \infty$ for $\alpha \in [0,1)$ and $2 < q \le 4 - \frac{6}{\alpha}$ for $\alpha \in (-1/2,0)$, we have

$$\zeta_{\ell}(q) \le \frac{\ell \left(\ell + 1 - 2\alpha\right)}{2\left(1 - \alpha\right)} \quad \text{for all } \ell \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}.$$

$$(30)$$

(b) Assuming $2 < q < \infty$ when $\alpha \in (-1/2, 0]$ and $2 < q \le 2 + \frac{2}{\alpha}$ when $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, we have

$$\zeta_{\ell}(q) \leq \frac{(\ell+1)(\ell+2\alpha)}{2(1+2\alpha)} \quad \text{for all } \ell \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}.$$
(31)

There is equality in (30) and (31) for $\ell = 1$ while both are strict for $\ell \ge 3$. For $\ell = 2$ there is equality if and only if $q = 4 - \frac{6}{\alpha}$, $\alpha \in (-1/2, 0)$ in the first case and $q = 2 + \frac{2}{\alpha}$, $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ in the second case.

To prove Lemma 18 we extend a method of [6, proof of Theorem 7] for scalar functions in the special case $\alpha = 0$ to the case $\alpha \neq 0$.

Proof. Throughout the proof the parameter $\alpha \in (-1/2, 1)$ is fixed. Let us define

$$z_{\ell}^{+}(\alpha, q) := \frac{2(1-\alpha)}{\ell(\ell+1-2\alpha)} \zeta_{\ell}(q) \text{ and } z_{\ell}^{-}(\alpha, q) := \frac{2(1+2\alpha)}{(\ell+1)(\ell+2\alpha)} \zeta_{\ell}(q).$$

An elementary computation shows that

$$z_{\ell+1}^{\pm}(\alpha,q) = \mathsf{a}_{\ell}^{\pm}(\alpha,q) + \mathsf{b}_{\ell}^{\pm}(\alpha,q) \, z_{\ell}^{\pm}(\alpha,q) \tag{32}$$

with

$$a_{\ell}^{+}(\alpha,q) := \frac{4(1-\alpha)}{(\ell+1)(\ell+2-2\alpha)(\ell q+2)}, \quad b_{\ell}^{+}(\alpha,q) := \frac{\ell(\ell+1-2\alpha)((\ell+2)q-2)}{(\ell+1)(\ell+2-2\alpha)(\ell q+2)}$$

and

$$\mathsf{a}_{\ell}^{-}(\alpha,q) := \frac{4(1+2\alpha)}{(\ell+2)(\ell+1+2\alpha)(\ell q+2)}, \quad \mathsf{b}_{\ell}^{-}(\alpha,q) := \frac{(\ell+1)(\ell+2\alpha)\left((\ell+2)q-2\right)}{(\ell+2)(\ell+1+2\alpha)(\ell q+2)}.$$

We now make two claims concerning $a_{\ell}^{\pm}(\alpha, q) + b_{\ell}^{\pm}(\alpha, q)$. The first claim is that if $2 < q < \infty$ for $\alpha \in [0, 1)$ and $2 < q < 4 - \frac{6}{\alpha}$ for $\alpha \in (-1/2, 0)$, then

$$\mathsf{a}_{\ell}^{+}(\alpha,q) + \mathsf{b}_{\ell}^{+}(\alpha,q) < 1 \quad \forall \, \ell \ge 1.$$
(33)

Moreover, if $q = 4 - \frac{6}{\alpha}$ for $\alpha \in (-1/2, 0)$, then the inequality in (33) holds for all $\ell \ge 2$, while it is an equality for $\ell = 1$. The second claim is that if $2 < q < \infty$ for $\alpha \in (-1/2, 0]$ and $2 < q < 2 + \frac{2}{\alpha}$ for $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, then

$$\mathbf{a}_{\ell}^{-}(\alpha,q) + \mathbf{b}_{\ell}^{-}(\alpha,q) < 1 \quad \forall \, \ell \ge 1.$$
(34)

Moreover, if $q = 2 + \frac{2}{\alpha}$ for $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, then the inequality in (34) holds for all $\ell \ge 2$, while it is an equality for $\ell = 1$.

Before proving these two claims, let us use them to complete the proof of the lemma. We observe that $z_1^{\pm}(\alpha, q) = 1$. By induction, this together with (32), (33) and (34) implies that $z_{\ell}^{\pm}(\alpha, q) < 1$ for any $\ell \ge 2$. This completes the proof of (30) and (31), even with strict inequality for $\ell \ge 2$, except for the cases $q = 4 - \frac{6}{\alpha}$, $\alpha \in (-1/2, 0)$ for (30) and $q = 2 + \frac{2}{\alpha}$, $\alpha \in (-1/2, 0)$ for (31). In these exceptional cases, the equality in (33) and (34) for $\ell = 1$ implies that $z_2^{\pm}(\alpha, q) = 1$. The strict inequalities for $\ell \ge 2$ then allows us to repeat the induction argument and arrive again at (30) and (31), now with strict inequality for $\ell \ge 3$.

Thus, we have reduced the proof of the lemma to the proof of (33) and (34). We set

$$F^{\pm}_{\ell}(\alpha,q) := \mathsf{a}^{\pm}_{\ell}(\alpha,q) + \mathsf{b}^{\pm}_{\ell}(\alpha,q)$$

It is convenient to consider these as functions of q in the interval $(-2/\ell, \infty)$. We note that $F_{\ell}^{\pm}(\alpha, \cdot)$ is a quotient of affine functions. A computation, plus some straightforward estimates show that $F_{\ell}^{\pm}(\alpha, \cdot)$ is an increasing function in the interval $(-2/\ell, \infty)$. Moreover, as $q \to \infty$, it converges to its horizontal asymptote $y_{\ell}^{\pm}(\alpha)$, given by

$$y_{\ell}^+(\alpha) := \frac{(\ell+1-2\alpha)(\ell+2)}{(\ell+1)(\ell+2-2\alpha)}$$
 and $y_{\ell}^-(\alpha) := \frac{(\ell+1)(\ell+2\alpha)}{(\ell+1+2\alpha)\ell}$.

To complete the proof of (33) and (34), we now consider these two cases separately. *Proof of Inequality* (33). A computation shows that $y_{\ell}^+(\alpha) \le 1$ if $\alpha \in [0, 1]$. Thus, in this case we have $F_{\ell}^+(\alpha, q) < y_{\ell}^+(\alpha) \le 1$ for all $q > -\frac{2}{\ell}$, which immediately implies the assertion.

For $\alpha < 0$ we observe that $F_{\ell}^+(\alpha, q_{\ell}^+(\alpha)) = 1$ for $q_{\ell}^+(\alpha) := 4 - 2\frac{\ell+2}{\alpha}$. Thus, by monotonicity, we have $F_{\ell}^+(\alpha, q) < 1$ for all $-\frac{2}{\ell} < q < q_{\ell}^+(\alpha)$. In particular, we have $F_{\ell}^+(\alpha, q) < 1$ for all $\ell \ge 1$ when $0 \le q < 4 - \frac{6}{\alpha} = \min_{\ell \ge 1} q_{\ell}^+(\alpha)$. We also see that for $q = 4 - \frac{6}{\alpha}$, this inequality

holds for all $\ell \ge 2$ with equality for $\ell = 1$. This proves (33).

Proof of Inequality (34). A computation show that $y_{\ell}^{-}(\alpha) \leq 1$ if $\alpha \in (-1/2, 0]$. Thus, in this case we have $F_{\ell}^{-}(\alpha, q) < y_{\ell}^{-}(\alpha) \leq 1$ for all $q > -\frac{2}{\ell}$, which immediately implies the assertion.

For $\alpha > 0$ we observe that $F_{\ell}^{-}(\alpha, q_{\ell}^{-}(\alpha)) = 1$ for $q_{\ell}^{-}(\alpha) := 2\left(\frac{\ell}{\alpha} + \frac{1+2\ell}{2+\ell}\right)$. Thus, by monotonicity, we have $F_{\ell}^{-}(\alpha, q) < 1$ for all $-\frac{2}{\ell} < q < q_{\ell}^{-}(\alpha)$. In particular, we have $F_{\ell}^{-}(\alpha, q) < 1$ for all $\ell \ge 1$ when $0 \le q < 2 + \frac{2}{\alpha} = \min_{\ell \ge 1} q_{\ell}^{-}(\alpha)$. We also see that for $q = 2 + \frac{2}{\alpha}$, this inequality holds for all $\ell \ge 2$ with equality for $\ell = 1$. This proves (34).

Remark 19. For later purposes we record that clearly $\lim_{\ell \to +\infty} (a^{\pm}_{\ell}(\alpha, q), b^{\pm}_{\ell}(\alpha, q)) = (0, 1)$. A more precise analysis show that $a^{\pm}_{\ell}(\alpha, q) + b^{\pm}_{\ell}(\alpha, q) < 1$ for all $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$ large enough (depending on α and q). Proceeding as in the above prove, we deduce that $z^{\pm}_{\ell}(\alpha, q)$ achieves a maximum for some finite $\ell \geq 2$. In particular, we have that

$$\sup_{\ell\geq 1}\frac{2(1-\alpha)}{\ell(\ell+1-2\alpha)}\zeta_{\ell}(q)+\sup_{\ell\geq 1}\frac{2(1+2\alpha)}{(\ell+1)(\ell+2\alpha)}\zeta_{\ell}(q)<\infty.$$

• *Proof of Theorem 16.* We recall the $\mathscr{B}_{\alpha,q}$ was defined in (29). We can rewrite this as

$$\mathscr{B}_{\alpha,q} = \min\left\{ \inf_{\ell \ge 1} \frac{\ell(\ell+1-2\alpha)}{\zeta_{\ell}(q)}, \inf_{\ell \ge 1} \frac{(\ell+1)(\ell+2\alpha)}{\zeta_{\ell}(q)} \right\}$$

It follows from Remark 19 that $\mathscr{B}_{\alpha,q} > 0$, which, according to the discussion before Lemma 18, implies the first assertion of Theorem 16.

Moreover, recalling the definition of $q(\alpha)$ in (18), we deduce from Lemma 18 that

$$\mathscr{B}_{\alpha,q} = \min\left\{2\left(1-\alpha\right), 2\left(1+2\alpha\right)\right\} = 2\operatorname{m}(\alpha) \quad \text{if} \quad q \leq q(\alpha).$$

This proves the second assertion of Theorem 16.

Still assuming $q \le q(\alpha)$, let us discuss the cases of equality in (19). Clearly, both sides of the inequality vanish for constant spinors. Conversely, assume that equality holds in the inequality for some spinor Φ decomposed according to (28). By Lemma 18, we deduce that $\chi_k = 0$ for all $k \ne -3, -2, 0, 1, 2$. (The cases k = -3, 2 are only relevant when $q = q(\alpha)$.)

We note that both components of angular spinors in $\mathcal{H}_{-3} \oplus \mathcal{H}_{-2} \oplus \mathcal{H}_0 \oplus \mathcal{H}_1 \oplus \mathcal{H}_2$ are polynomials in $\omega_1, \omega_2, \omega_3$ of degree ≤ 2 . Meanwhile, from Lemma 17 we know that $\Phi(\omega) = (1 - \zeta \cdot \omega)^{-2/q} \chi_0$ for some $\zeta \in \mathbb{R}^3$ with $|\zeta| < 1$ and $\chi_0 \in \mathbb{C}^2$. We deduce that $\zeta = 0$ (unless $\chi_0 = 0$). Thus, Φ is a constant spinor, as claimed. This completes the proof of Theorem 16.

6.2. A symmetry range. In this subsection, our goal is to characterize a set of parameters $(\alpha, p) \in (-1/2, 1] \times (2, 6)$ such that $C_{\alpha, p}^{\star} = C_{\alpha, p}$. We adapt the method of [12], but significant changes have to be implemented in order to deal with spinors.

Theorem 20. If one of the following conditions is satisfied,

$$\alpha \in \left(-\frac{1}{2}, 0\right] \quad and \quad 2
(35a)$$

$$\alpha \in \left(0, \frac{1}{2}\right) \cup \left(\frac{1}{2}, 1\right) \quad and \quad 2 (35b)$$

then $C_{\alpha,p} = C_{\alpha,p}^{\star}$ and any optimizer for Inequality (SCKN_{log}) is symmetric of type \mathcal{H}_0 .

See Fig. 3 for a plot of Conditions (35a) and (35b).

Proof. We split the proof in several steps.

 \triangleright *First step.* The following result was suggested by Keller in [26] and proved independently by Lieb and Thirring in [28]. The underlying one-dimensional interpolation inequality was established by Nagy [37]. As it is stated below, it is taken from [12]. Let us define

$$c_{\rm LT}(\gamma) := \frac{\pi^{-1/2}}{\gamma - 1/2} \frac{\Gamma(\gamma + 1)}{\Gamma(\gamma + 1/2)} \left(\frac{\gamma - 1/2}{\gamma + 1/2}\right)^{\gamma + 1/2} .$$
(36)

Lemma 21. Let V = V(s) be a non-negative real valued potential in $L^{\gamma+1/2}(\mathbb{R})$ for some $\gamma > 1/2$. If $-\lambda_1(V)$ is the lowest eigenvalue of the Schrödinger operator $-\frac{d^2}{ds^2} - V$, then

$$\lambda_1(V)^{\gamma} \le c_{\rm LT}(\gamma) \int_{\mathbb{R}} V^{\gamma+1/2}(s) \, ds, \qquad (37)$$

with equality if and only if

$$V(s) = B^2 V_0 \big(B(s-C) \big) \quad and \quad V_0(s) := \frac{\gamma^2 - 1/4}{(\cosh s)^2} \quad \forall \, s \in \mathbb{R} \,,$$

where B > 0, $C \in \mathbb{R}$ are constants. In that case, $\lambda_1(V_0) = (\gamma - 1/2)^2$ and the corresponding eigenspace is generated by

$$u_0(s) = \left(\frac{\Gamma(\gamma)}{\sqrt{\pi}\,\Gamma(\gamma - 1/2)}\right)^{1/2} \left(\cosh s\right)^{1/2 - \gamma}.$$

See Appendix A for a proof. Here u_0 is normalized by the condition $||u_0||_{L^2(\mathbb{R})} = 1$. Let

$$\mathscr{F}_{\alpha}[\phi] := \left\| \partial_{s} \phi \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^{2})}^{2} + \left\| \left(\sigma \cdot L + \frac{1}{2} - \alpha \right) \phi \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^{2})}^{2} - C_{\alpha, p} \left\| \phi \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^{2})}^{2}$$

We assume that ϕ is an optimizer for (SCKN_{log}). By homogeneity we may assume without loss of generality that

$$\|\phi\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2)}^{p-2} = C_{\alpha,p} \le C_{\alpha,p}^{\star}.$$
(38)

It follows from this normalization that ϕ satisfies the Euler–Lagrange equation in the form

$$\partial_s^2 \phi + \left(\sigma \cdot L - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} \right)^2 \phi = |\phi|^{p-2} \phi \quad \text{in} \quad \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2.$$
(39)

Multiplying this equation by ϕ and integrating, we deduce that

$$0 = \iint_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2} \left(\left| \partial_s \phi \right|^2 + \left| \left(\sigma \cdot L - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} \right) \phi \right|^2 - \left| \phi \right|^p \right) ds \, d\omega = \mathscr{F}_{\alpha}[\phi] \,. \tag{40}$$

Similar estimates apply in the symmetric case. Indeed, for $\alpha > -1/2$, symmetric optimizers for (SCKN_{log}) can be rewritten, after a translation, as

$$\phi_{\star}(s,\omega) = u_{\star}(s)\,\chi\,,\tag{41}$$

where $\chi \in \mathbb{C}^2$ and $u_{\star}(s) = A u_0(B s)$ with $B = \frac{1}{2} (p-2) \sqrt{\lambda}$ and $\lambda = (\alpha - \frac{1}{2})^2$, that is,

$$u_{\star}(s) = \left(\frac{p\lambda}{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{p-2}} \left(\cosh\left(\frac{1}{2}\left(p-2\right)\sqrt{\lambda}s\right)\right)^{-\frac{2}{p-2}} \quad \forall s \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(42)

Without loss of generality, we shall assume that $|\chi| = 1$. See Appendix A for details. As above, let us choose *A* such that

$$\|u_{\star}\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathbb{R})}^{p-2} = C_{\alpha,p}^{\star}.$$
(43)

As a consequence of this and (38), we obtain

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2} |\phi|^p \, ds \, d\omega \le \iint_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2} |\phi_\star|^p \, ds \, d\omega \,. \tag{44}$$

For the same reasons as before, ϕ_{\star} solves (39) and

$$0 = \iint_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2} \left(\left| \partial_s \phi_\star \right|^2 + \left| \left(\sigma \cdot L - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} \right) \phi_\star \right|^2 - \left| \phi_\star \right|^p \right) ds \, d\omega \,. \tag{45}$$

After these preliminaries, we establish a lower bound for $\mathscr{F}_{\alpha}[\phi]$. Let

$$\gamma = \frac{1}{2} \frac{p+2}{p-2} > \frac{1}{2}.$$
(46)

For a.e. $\omega \in \mathbb{S}^2$, we apply Lemma 21 with $V(s) = |\phi(s, \omega)|^{p-2}$ and infer that the lowest eigenvalue $-\lambda_1(V)$ of the operator $-\frac{d^2}{ds^2} - V$ acting in $L^2(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2)$ is bounded from below according to

$$-\lambda_1(V) \ge -c_{\mathrm{LT}}(\gamma)^{1/\gamma} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} |\phi(s,\omega)|^p \, ds \right)^{1/\gamma}$$

The same estimate applies to the lowest eigenvalue of the corresponding operator acting in $L^2(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2)$, since the operator acts trivially on the spin. By the variational characterization of the first eigenvalue, we deduce that for a.e. $\omega \in \mathbb{S}^2$ we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(|\partial_s \phi(s,\omega)|^2 - |\phi(s,\omega)|^p \right) ds \ge -c_{\mathrm{LT}}(\gamma)^{1/\gamma} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} |\phi(s,\omega)|^p ds \right)^{1/\gamma} |u(\omega)|^2,$$

where we set

$$u(\omega) := \sqrt{\int_{\mathbb{R}} |\phi(s,\omega)|^2 \, ds}.$$

Integrating this inequality with respect to $\omega \in \mathbb{S}^2$ we obtain

$$\mathscr{F}_{\alpha}[\phi] \geq -c_{\mathrm{LT}}(\gamma)^{1/\gamma} \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} |\phi(s,\omega)|^p \, ds \right)^{1/\gamma} |u(\omega)|^2 \, d\omega + \iint_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2} \left| \left(\sigma \cdot L - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} \right) \phi \right|^2 \, ds \, d\omega \, .$$

▷ *Second step.* Applying Theorem 16 to $\phi(s, \cdot)$ for almost every $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and integrating with respect to *s* we find that, for each $q \in (2, \infty)$,

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2} \left| \left(\sigma \cdot L - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} \right) \phi \right|^2 ds \, d\omega = \iint_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2} \left\langle \phi, \mathcal{K}_{\alpha} \phi \right\rangle ds \, d\omega + \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2} \right)^2 \iint_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2} |\phi|^2 \, ds \, d\omega$$
$$\geq \frac{\mathscr{B}_{\alpha,q}}{q-2} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\left(\int_{\mathbb{S}^2} |\phi(s,\omega)|^q \, d\omega \right)^{2/q} - \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} |\phi(s,\omega)|^2 \, d\omega \right) ds + \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2} \right)^2 \iint_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2} |\phi|^2 \, ds \, d\omega.$$

By Minkowski's inequality (see for instance [30, Section 2.4, p. 47]),

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{S}^2} u(\omega)^q \, d\omega\right)^{2/q} = \left(\int_{\mathbb{S}^2} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} |\phi(s,\omega)|^2 \, ds\right)^{q/2} \, d\omega\right)^{2/q} \le \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{S}^2} |\phi(s,\omega)|^q \, d\omega\right)^{2/q} \, ds \, .$$

By combining this with the inequality from Step 1, we obtain for all $q \in (2, q(\alpha))$,

$$\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}[\phi] \geq -c_{\mathrm{LT}}(\gamma)^{1/\gamma} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} |\phi(s,\omega)|^{p} ds \right)^{1/\gamma} |u(\omega)|^{2} d\omega + \frac{\mathscr{B}_{\alpha,q}}{q-2} \left(\left(\int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} |u(\omega)|^{q} d\omega \right)^{2/q} - \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} |u(\omega)|^{2} d\omega \right) + \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)^{2} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} |u(\omega)|^{2} d\omega.$$

 \triangleright *Third step.* Assuming $\gamma > 1$, we apply Hölder's inequality,

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}^2} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} |\phi(s,\omega)|^p \, ds \right)^{\frac{1}{\gamma}} |u(\omega)|^2 \, d\omega \le \left(\iint_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2} |\phi(s,\omega)|^p \, ds \, d\omega \right)^{\frac{1}{\gamma}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{S}^2} |u(\omega)|^{\frac{2\gamma}{\gamma-1}} \, d\omega \right)^{\frac{\gamma-1}{\gamma}}.$$

Thus, setting

$$D := c_{\mathrm{LT}}(\gamma)^{1/\gamma} \left(\iint_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2} |\phi(s,\omega)|^p \, ds \, d\omega \right)^{\frac{1}{\gamma}},$$

we obtain

$$\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}[\phi] \geq -D\left(\int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} |u(\omega)|^{\frac{2\gamma}{\gamma-1}} d\omega\right)^{\frac{\gamma-1}{\gamma}} + \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)^{2} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} |u(\omega)|^{2} d\omega + \frac{\mathscr{B}_{\alpha,q}}{q-2} \left(\left(\int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} |u(\omega)|^{q} d\omega\right)^{2/q} - \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} |u(\omega)|^{2} d\omega \right).$$

At this point we choose the parameter q such that

$$q = \frac{2\gamma}{\gamma - 1} = 2\frac{p + 2}{6 - p}.$$
(47)

This choice is consistent with the requirement $\gamma \in (1, +\infty)$ if and only if $p \in (2, 6)$. We find that

$$\mathscr{F}_{\alpha}[\phi] \geq \left(\frac{\mathscr{B}_{\alpha,q}}{q-2} - D\right) \left(\int_{\mathbb{S}^2} |u|^q \, d\omega\right)^{\frac{2}{q}} + \left(\left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)^2 - \frac{\mathscr{B}_{\alpha,q}}{q-2}\right) \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} |u|^2 \, d\omega =: \mathscr{E}[u].$$

 \triangleright *Fourth step.* By (44), we know that

$$D = c_{\mathrm{LT}}(\gamma)^{\frac{1}{\gamma}} \left(\iint_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2} |\phi(s,\omega)|^p \, ds \, d\omega \right)^{\frac{1}{\gamma}} \le c_{\mathrm{LT}}(\gamma)^{\frac{1}{\gamma}} \left(\iint_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2} |\phi_{\star}|^p \, ds \, d\omega \right)^{\frac{1}{\gamma}} = \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)^2. \tag{48}$$

The last equality follows from the explicit value of $c_{LT}(\gamma)$ in (36) and the explicit value of (43) given in Proposition 29. More conceptually, one can also note that $-(\alpha - \frac{1}{2})^2$ is the smallest eigenvalue of the Schrödinger operator $-\partial_s^2 - |\phi_{\star}|^{p-2}$ and that the potential $|\phi_{\star}|^{p-2}$ saturates the inequality in Lemma 21 for the given value of γ .

We now assume, in addition, that we have

$$\left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)^2 \le \frac{\mathscr{B}_{\alpha,q}}{q-2}.$$
(49)

Then, from (48) we deduce that

$$D \leq \frac{\mathscr{B}_{\alpha,q}}{q-2}.$$

To proceed, we use the fact that $d\omega$ is a probability measure, and by Hölder's inequality, we get

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{S}^2} |u|^q \, d\omega\right)^{\frac{2}{q}} \ge \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} |u|^2 \, d\omega$$

Thus,

$$\left(\frac{\mathscr{B}_{\alpha,q}}{q-2}-D\right)\left(\int_{\mathbb{S}^2}|u|^q(\omega)\,d\omega\right)^{\frac{2}{q}} \ge \left(\frac{\mathscr{B}_{\alpha,q}}{q-2}-D\right)\int_{\mathbb{S}^2}|u|^2\,d\omega$$

and therefore

$$\mathscr{E}[u] \ge \left(\left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2} \right)^2 - D \right) \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} |u|^2 \, d\omega.$$

Recalling (40) and using (48) again, we obtain the chain of inequalities

$$0 = \mathscr{F}_{\alpha}[\phi] \ge \mathscr{E}[u] \ge 0.$$

This requires that equality must hold in each step. In particular, equality in (48) gives $D = (\alpha - \frac{1}{2})^2$. Since equality in (48) came from the inequality $C_{\alpha,p} \le C_{\alpha,p}^{\star}$ in (38), we deduce that $C_{\alpha,p} = C_{\alpha,p}^{\star}$ under Assumption (49).

To complete the proof of the first part of Theorem 20, we will now show that Assumptions (35a) and (35b) imply Assumption (49).

We first assume that $\alpha \in (-1/2, 0]$ and consequently that 2 by (35a). Note that this implies <math>p < 6, so q is well defined by (47). Moreover, the bounds on p are equivalent to $2 < q \le 2(3+4(\alpha+1)^2+3+4\alpha^2)/(3(3+4\alpha^2)-3-4(\alpha+1)^2)$. One checks that $2(3+4(\alpha+1)^2+3+4\alpha^2)/(3(3+4\alpha^2)-3-4(\alpha+1)^2) < 4-6/\alpha = q(\alpha)$, so we may assume that $\mathcal{B}_{\alpha,q} = 2m(\alpha)$. By (47), Assumption (49) is equivalent to

$$\left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)^2 \le 2\frac{\mathsf{m}(\alpha)}{q-2} = \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{m}(\alpha)\frac{6-p}{p-2},$$
(50)

which in turn is equivalent to Assumption (35a). See Fig. 3.

Now assume that $\alpha \in (0, 1/2) \cup (1/2, 1)$ and consequently that 2 by (35b). Again this implies <math>p < 6, so q is well defined by (47). A computation shows that the assumption $p \le (6+4\alpha)/(1+2\alpha)$ is equivalent to the assumption $q \le q(\alpha)$, so we may again assume that $\mathcal{B}_{\alpha,q} = 2m(\alpha)$. The resulting form (50) of (49) turns out to be equivalent to the assumption $p \le 2(7-10\alpha+4\alpha^2)/(3-6\alpha+4\alpha^2)$. Thus, we have shown that Assumption (35b) implies Assumption (49). See Fig. 3. This ends the first part of the proof of Theorem 20.



FIGURE 3. For any $\alpha \in [-1/2, 1)$, the range of symmetry in Theorem 20 is represented in green. The dotted curve corresponds to the condition $q = q(\alpha)$, rewritten in terms of p using (47). The plain curves correspond to the condition that $(\alpha - 1/2)^2 = \frac{1}{2}m(6-p)/(p-2)$ with either m = $1 - \alpha$ or m = $1 + 2\alpha$ and determine (35a)-(35b): symmetry occurs below these curves.

▷ *Fifth step.* Let us prove the stronger result that under the assumptions of Theorem 20 every minimizer is symmetric. In Step 2 we applied Theorem 16. The equality statement there implies that $\phi(s, \omega)$ must be a constant spinor for almost all *s*. So, for a.e. $s \in \mathbb{R}$ there is a unitary 2 × 2-matrix U(s) and a non-negative number f(s) such that $\phi(s, \cdot) = f(s) U(s) \chi_0$. In Step 1, we applied Lemma 21. More precisely, we applied a corollary of this lemma for an operator acting on \mathbb{C}^2 -valued functions. This extension from \mathbb{C} to \mathbb{C}^2 -valued functions implies that there is a unitary 2 × 2-matrix $U(s) = U_0$ for a.e. $s \in \mathbb{R}$.

The equality statement of Lemma 21 now implies that there are B > 0 and $C \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$f(s)^{p-2} = |\phi(s,\omega)|^{p-2} = B^2 V_0 (B(s-C))$$
 and $f(s) = A u_0 (B(s-C))$

for some nonnegative constant *A*. Here V_0 and u_0 are defined in Lemma 21 and γ is related to *p* by (47). By translation invariance, we may assume *C* = 0. By inserting $\phi = f U_0 \chi_0$ into the Euler–Lagrange equation, we find that necessarily

$$B = \frac{1}{2}(p-2)\left|\frac{1}{2} - \alpha\right|$$

Thus, we have shown that $f = u_{\star}$ given by (41). This proves the uniqueness of minimizers up to translations with respect to *s* and applications of a unitary transformation in \mathbb{C}^2 , while *A* is determined by (45).

6.3. **Extension.** The range of symmetry in Theorem 20 is limited to two subintervals of $(-1/2, 1) \ni \alpha$. Using the transformation $\alpha \mapsto -(\alpha + 1)$ as in (6), we can extend the result to subintervals of (-2, -1/2) and prove the following result.

Corollary 22. If one of the following conditions is satisfied,

$$-1 \le \alpha < -\frac{1}{2} \quad and \quad 2 < p \le 2 \frac{3+4\alpha^2}{3+4(\alpha+1)^2}, \\ \alpha \in \left(-2, -\frac{3}{2}\right) \cup \left(-\frac{3}{2}, -1\right) \quad and \quad 2 < p \le \min\left\{\frac{4\alpha-2}{2\alpha+1}, 2\frac{21+18\alpha+4\alpha^2}{13+14\alpha+4\alpha^2}\right\}$$

then $C_{\alpha,p} = C_{\alpha,p}^{\star}$ and any optimizer for Inequality (SCKN_{log}) is symmetric of type \mathcal{H}_{-2} .

7. INSTABILITY OF SYMMETRIC SOLUTIONS AND SYMMETRY BREAKING

The aim of this section is to find regions in the set $(\mathbb{R} \setminus \Lambda) \times (2, 6) \ni (\alpha, p)$ for which there is symmetry breaking, that is, $C_{\alpha,p} < C_{\alpha,p}^{\star}$. We argue as follows. If $\phi_{\star} \in H^{1}(\mathbb{S}^{2}, \mathbb{C}^{2})$ is a

symmetric optimizer for (SCKN_{log}) restricted to symmetric functions, normalized such that $\|\phi_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^{2})}^{p-2} = C_{\alpha,p}^{\star}$, let us consider the quadratic form

$$\mathcal{Q}[\varphi] := \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \left(\mathcal{F}[\phi_\star + \varepsilon \varphi] - \mathcal{F}[\phi_\star] \right)$$

where $\mathscr{F}[\phi] := \|\partial_s \phi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2)}^2 + \|(\sigma \cdot L + \frac{1}{2} - \alpha)\phi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2)}^2 - C_{\alpha,p}^{\star} \|\phi\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^2)}^2$. If we can find a function $\varphi \in H^1(\mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2)$ such that $\mathscr{Q}[\varphi] < 0$, then $\mathscr{F}[\phi_{\star} + \varepsilon \varphi]$ is also negative if we take $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough, and then we know that $C_{\alpha,p} < C_{\alpha,p}^{\star}$. Let us start by computing \mathscr{Q} .

Lemma 23. *If* $(\alpha, p) \in (\mathbb{R} \setminus \Lambda) \times (2, 6)$ *, then*

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{Q}[\varphi] &= \left\| \partial_{s} \varphi \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^{2})}^{2} + \left\| \left(\sigma \cdot L + \frac{1}{2} - \alpha \right) \varphi \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^{2})}^{2} \\ &- \iint_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^{2}} \left| \phi_{\star} \right|^{p-2} \left| \varphi \right|^{2} ds d\omega - (p-2) \iint_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^{2}} \left| \phi_{\star} \right|^{p-4} \left| \operatorname{Re} \left\langle \phi_{\star}, \varphi \right\rangle \right|^{2} ds d\omega \\ &+ (p-2) \frac{\left(\iint_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^{2}} \left| \phi_{\star} \right|^{p-2} \operatorname{Re} \left\langle \phi_{\star}, \varphi \right\rangle ds d\omega \right)^{2}}{\left\| \phi_{\star} \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^{2})}^{p}}. \end{aligned}$$

Proof. The proof is elementary but requires some care. Using

$$|\phi_{\star} + \varepsilon \varphi|^{2} = |\phi_{\star}|^{2} + 2\varepsilon \operatorname{Re} \langle \varphi, \phi_{\star} \rangle + \varepsilon^{2} |\varphi|^{2},$$

we perform a Taylor expansion at order two in ε and obtain

$$\begin{split} |\phi_{\star} + \varepsilon \varphi|^{p} &= |\phi_{\star}|^{p} \left(1 + 2\varepsilon \frac{\operatorname{Re} \left\langle \varphi, \phi_{\star} \right\rangle}{|\phi_{\star}|^{2}} + \varepsilon^{2} \frac{|\varphi|^{2}}{|\phi_{\star}|^{2}} \right)^{\frac{p}{2}} \\ &= |\phi_{\star}|^{p} + p\varepsilon |\phi_{\star}|^{p-2} \operatorname{Re} \left\langle \varphi, \phi_{\star} \right\rangle + \frac{p}{2} \varepsilon^{2} |\phi_{\star}|^{p-2} |\varphi|^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} p \left(p - 2 \right) \varepsilon^{2} |\phi_{\star}|^{p-4} \left(\operatorname{Re} \left\langle \varphi, \phi_{\star} \right\rangle \right)^{2} + o \left(\varepsilon^{2} \right). \end{split}$$

After integration, we find that

$$\begin{split} \frac{\|\phi_{\star} + \varepsilon \varphi\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^{2})}^{2}}{\|\phi_{\star}\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^{2})}^{2}} &- 1 - 2\varepsilon \frac{\iint_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^{2}} |\phi_{\star}|^{p-2} \operatorname{Re} \left\langle \varphi, \phi_{\star} \right\rangle ds d\omega}{\|\phi_{\star}\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^{2})}^{p-2}} \\ &= \varepsilon^{2} \frac{\iint_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^{2}} |\phi_{\star}|^{p-2} |\varphi|^{2} ds d\omega}{\|\phi_{\star}\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^{2})}^{p}} + (p-2) \varepsilon^{2} \frac{\iint_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^{2}} |\phi_{\star}|^{p-4} \left(\operatorname{Re} \left\langle \varphi, \phi_{\star} \right\rangle \right)^{2} ds d\omega}{\|\phi_{\star}\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^{2})}^{p}} \\ &- (p-2) \varepsilon^{2} \frac{\left(\iint_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^{2}} |\phi_{\star}|^{p-2} \operatorname{Re} \left\langle \varphi, \phi_{\star} \right\rangle ds d\omega \right)^{2}}{\|\phi_{\star}\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^{2})}^{2}} + o\left(\varepsilon^{2}\right). \end{split}$$

Recalling the normalization $\|\phi_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^{2})}^{p-2} = C_{\alpha,p}^{\star}$ completes the proof.

Let us assume that $\alpha > -1/2$ so that $\phi_{\star}(s, \omega) = u_{\star}(s) \chi_0$ with a constant spinor $\chi_0 \in \mathbb{C}^2$ where u_{\star} is ndefined by (42). With no loss of generality, we choose $\chi_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$. Also, after a translation, we may assume that the function u_{\star} is given by (42). An *ansatz* determines a range of the parameters (α, p) for which \mathcal{Q} takes negative values. Let us consider the set

of spinors \mathscr{S}_k^m such that

$$\varphi(s,\omega) := w(s) \chi_k^m(\omega) \quad \forall (s,\omega) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2,$$

where $w \in H^1(\mathbb{R})$ is real valued and such that $||w||_{L^2(\mathbb{R})} = 1$, $k \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{-1, 0\}$ and $m \in M_k$ where $M_k := \{k + 3/2, k + 1/2, \dots, -k - 3/2\}$ if $k \le -2$, and $M_k := \{-k - 1/2, -k + 1/2, \dots, k + 1/2\}$ if $k \ge 1$. See Lemma 35 in Appendix B for the definition of $\chi_k^m(\omega)$. With this notation,

$$\mathscr{Q}[\varphi] = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(|w'(s)|^2 + \left(k - \alpha + \frac{1}{2}\right)^2 |w(s)|^2 - \frac{A_k^m |w(s)|^2}{\left(\cosh(Bs)\right)^2} \right) ds \quad \forall \varphi \in \mathscr{S}_k^m$$

because $\int_{\mathbb{S}^2} \langle \chi_0, \chi_k^m \rangle \, d\omega = 0$. Here $A = \frac{p}{2} |\alpha - 1/2|^2$, $B = \frac{1}{2} (p-2) |\alpha - 1/2|$,

$$A_k^m := (1 + (p-2)\delta_k^m) A \text{ and } \delta_k^m := \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} |\operatorname{Re}\langle \chi_0, \chi_k^m \rangle|^2 d\omega.$$

For any $k \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{-1, 0\}$ and $m \in M_k$, minimizing $\mathcal{Q}[\varphi]$ with respect to $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}_k^m$ determines $\varphi_k^m(s, \omega) = w_k^m(s) \chi_k^m(\omega)$ where $w_k^m > 0$ is uniquely defined according to Lemma 21. Taking into account the scaling $s \mapsto B s$, we obtain $\mathcal{Q}[\varphi_k^m] = (k - \alpha + 1/2)^2 - B^2 (\gamma - 1/2)^2$ with γ such that $\gamma^2 - 1/4 = A_k^m/B^2$.

Lemma 24. Assume that $(\alpha, p) \in (\mathbb{R} \setminus \Lambda) \times (2, 6)$. With the above notation, we obtain

$$\min_{\varphi \in \mathscr{S}_k^m} \mathscr{Q}[\varphi] = \mathscr{Q}[\varphi_k^m] = \left(k - \alpha + \frac{1}{2}\right)^2 - \frac{1}{4} \left(\sqrt{4A_k^m + B^2} - B\right)^2 =: \frac{1}{4}q[k, m; \alpha, p].$$

The next step is to compute these coefficients.

Lemma 25. For any $k \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{-1, 0\}$, we have

$$\delta_k^{1/2} = \frac{k+1}{2\,k+1}$$
 and $\delta_k^m = \frac{1}{2}\frac{k+m+1/2}{2\,k+1}$ if $m \neq \frac{1}{2}$

Proof. Using the explicit formulas for χ_k^m in Appendix B, it follows that

$$\langle \chi_0, \chi_k^m \rangle = \sqrt{4\pi \frac{k+m+1/2}{2k+1}} Y_\ell^{m-1/2}$$
 where $\ell = k$ if $k \ge 0$, $\ell = -k-1$ if $k \le -2$.

We note that, in view of (57),

$$\left(\operatorname{Re} Y_{\ell}^{m-1/2} \right)^{2} = \frac{1}{4} \left(\left(Y_{\ell}^{m-1/2} \right)^{2} + 2 \overline{Y_{\ell}^{m-1/2}} Y_{\ell}^{m-1/2} + \left(\overline{Y_{\ell}^{m-1/2}} \right)^{2} \right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \left((-1)^{m-1/2} \operatorname{Re} \left(\overline{Y_{\ell}^{-m+1/2}} Y_{\ell}^{m-1/2} \right) + \left| Y_{\ell}^{m-1/2} \right|^{2} \right)$$

Using the orthonormality of the spherical harmonics, we obtain the claimed result. \Box

With these preliminaries in hand, we are now ready to establish regions of symmetry breaking, which are values of (α, p) for which $q[k, m; \alpha, p] < 0$. \triangleright If $\alpha \in (-1/2, 0)$, then

$$q[1, 1/2; \alpha, p] = (3 - 2\alpha)^2 - \frac{(1 - 2\alpha)^2}{48} \left(\sqrt{19\,p^2 - 20\,p + 12} - \sqrt{3}\,(p - 2)\right)^2$$

takes negative values if and only if (see Fig. 4)

$$p > p_1(\alpha) := \frac{5 - 4\alpha + \sqrt{8\alpha(2\alpha - 11) + 97}}{2(1 - 2\alpha)} \quad \text{and} \quad \alpha < \frac{1 - \sqrt{3}}{4} \approx -0.183013.$$



FIGURE 4. In the range $\alpha \in [-1/2, 0)$, a range of linear instability given either by the condition $p > p_1(\alpha)$, or by the condition $p > p_2(\alpha)$ is represented in red. Altogether, we learn from Theorem 27 that optimal spinors are not symmetric if p is larger than min $\{p_1(\alpha), p_2(\alpha)\}$.

 \triangleright If $\alpha \in (-1/2, 0)$, then

$$q[-2, 1/2; \alpha, p] = (3+2\alpha)^2 - \frac{(1-2\alpha)^2}{48} \left(\sqrt{11p^2 - 4p + 12} - \sqrt{3}(p-2)\right)^2$$

takes negative values if and only if (see Fig. 4)

$$p > p_2(\alpha) := 2 \frac{2(1+\alpha) + \sqrt{16 \alpha^2 + 32 \alpha + 13}}{1-2 \alpha}$$
 and $\alpha < \frac{1-\sqrt{2}}{2} \approx -0.207107$.

 \triangleright If $\alpha \in (1/2, +\infty)$ and $\alpha \notin \Lambda$, then

$$q[1, 1/2; \alpha, p] = (3 - 2\alpha)^2 - \frac{(1 - 2\alpha)^2}{48} \left(\sqrt{19\,p^2 - 20\,p + 12} + \sqrt{3}\,(p - 2)\right)^2$$

takes negative values if and only if

$$p > p_5(\alpha) := \frac{2 - \alpha + \sqrt{25 \,\alpha^2 - 64 \,\alpha + 40}}{2 \,\alpha - 1} \quad \text{and} \quad \alpha > \frac{3 + \sqrt{3}}{6} \approx 0.788675$$

Remark 26. Note that we have obtained symmetry breaking by destabilization of the symmetric spinor ϕ_{\star} along single channel functions $\varphi \in \mathscr{S}_k^m$. For such functions, it is easily seen that the above choices of k and m are the best possible ones. It is not unlikely that by mixing several channels one might increase the region of instability. Finding the optimal region is an open problem.

Theorem 27. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \Lambda$ and $p \in (2,6)$. Symmetric optimizers are linearly unstable and $C_{\alpha,p} < C_{\alpha,p}^{\star}$ if one of the following conditions is satisfied:

- (i) $\alpha \in (-1/2, (1-\sqrt{3})/4)$ and $p > \min\{p_1(\alpha), p_2(\alpha)\},$
- (ii) $\alpha \in ((3 + \sqrt{3})/6, 1)$ and $p > p_5(\alpha)$,
- (iii) $\alpha > 1$.

Moreover, $C_{\alpha,p} < C_{\alpha,p}^{\star}$ *if* $\alpha < -1/2$ *and* $(-(1 + \alpha), p)$ *is in an unstable region* (i), (ii) *or* (iii).

See Fig. 4 for a plot of p_1 and p_2 in Case (i). The functions $\alpha \mapsto p_j(\alpha)$ with j = 1, 2, 5 are strictly monotone on the intervals considered in Theorem 27, and their inverses $p \mapsto \alpha_i(p)$ are the functions which appear in Theorem 6.

8. PROOF OF THE MAIN RESULTS

Proof of Theorem 6. The existence of optimizers for $(SCKN_{log})$ for $p \in (2,6)$ and $\alpha \notin \Lambda$ is proved in Theorem 11. The symmetry results for the optimizers are collected from Corollary 15, Theorem 20 and Corollary 22. Symmetry breaking follows from the linear unstability of Theorem 27.

Proof of Theorem 3. We recall the equivalence between (SCKN) and (SCKN_{log}) and define $\overline{\alpha}_{\star}$ and $\overline{\alpha}^{\star}$ as in Remark 7. The argument of α_{\star} and α^{\star} in these formulas is motivated by the formula (1) for *p* in terms of α and β . The assertions are therefore an immediate consequence of the first part of Theorem 6.

APPENDIX A. THE BEST CONSTANT AMONG SYMMETRIC FUNCTIONS

Our goal in this appendix is to compute the optimal constants $\mathscr{C}^{\star}_{\alpha,\beta}$ and $C^{\star}_{\alpha,p}$ in inequalities (SCKN) and (SCKN_{log}) when restricted to symmetric functions.

We recall that $K_{\lambda,p}$ denotes the optimal constant in Inequality (15). The following lemma essentially goes back to Nagy [37].

Lemma 28. For any $\lambda > 0$ and $p \in (2, +\infty)$, the optimal constant in Inequality (15) is

$$K_{\lambda,p} = \lambda^{\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{p}} K_{1,p} \quad with \quad K_{1,p} = \frac{p}{2} \left(\frac{8\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma(\frac{2}{p-2})}{(p^2 - 4) \Gamma(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{2}{p-2})} \right)^{1 - \frac{2}{p}}$$

The optimizers are, up to a translation in s and multiplication by a constant, given by (42).

Proof of Lemma 28. The proof is well known, but for the sake of completeness we sketch its major steps. The constant $K_{\lambda,p}$ is computed from $K_{1,p}$ by a simple scaling argument, so we can assume that $\lambda = 1$.

It is easy to see that $K_{1,p}$ is positive and that there is an optimizer $v \in H^1(\mathbb{R})$ for the inequality, which is a nonnegative function. By homogeneity we may assume that $\|v\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R})}^{p-2} = K_{1,p}$ so that v satisfies

$$-v''+v=v^{p-1}$$
 on \mathbb{R} .

Up to translation, $v(s) = (p/2)^{1/(p-2)} (\cosh((p-2)s/2))^{-2/(p-2)}$ is the unique positive solution in H¹(\mathbb{R}). This implies the claimed form of optimizers and of the optimal constant. We refer to [11] for further details.

Let us continue with (SCKN_{log}) restricted to symmetric spinors as defined in Definition 5. In the symmetric problem we may allow for arbitrarily large exponents p and recall that $\mathscr{C}_{\alpha,\beta}^{\star} = C_{\alpha,p}^{\star}$ if p is given by (1).

Proposition 29. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ and assume that $p \in (2, +\infty)$. Then

$$C_{\alpha,p}^{\star} = \begin{cases} \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)^{1 + \frac{2}{p}} K_{1,p} & \text{if } \alpha \ge -\frac{1}{2}, \\ \left(\alpha + \frac{3}{2}\right)^{1 + \frac{2}{p}} K_{1,p} & \text{if } \alpha \le -\frac{1}{2}. \end{cases}$$

In particular, we have $C_{\alpha,p}^{\star} > 0$ if and only if $\alpha \notin \{-\frac{3}{2}, +\frac{1}{2}\}$. In this case, let

$$\lambda = \begin{cases} \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)^2 & \text{if } \alpha \ge -\frac{1}{2}, \\ \left(\alpha + \frac{3}{2}\right)^2 & \text{if } \alpha \le -\frac{1}{2}. \end{cases}$$

Then the optimizers for $C^{\star}_{\alpha,p}$ are given by

$$\phi(s,\omega) = u(s)\,\chi(\omega) \quad \forall \,(s,\omega) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2\,,\tag{51}$$

where $\chi \in \mathcal{H}_k$ with k = 0 if $\alpha > -\frac{1}{2}$, k = -2 if $\alpha < -\frac{1}{2}$ and $k \in \{0, -2\}$ if $\alpha = -\frac{1}{2}$, and where, up to a translation in s and multiplication by a constant, u is given by (42). Moreover, $C_{\alpha,p}^{\star} = \|u_{\star}\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R})}^{p-2}$.

Notice that $C^{\star}_{-(\alpha+1),p} = C^{\star}_{\alpha,p}$ as for the optimal constant for (SCKN_{log}). However, in contrast to (SCKN_{log}), the constant $C^{\star}_{\alpha,p}$ does not vanish for $\alpha \in \Lambda \setminus \{-\frac{3}{2}, +\frac{1}{2}\}$. So far, we have considered Inequality (SCKN_{log}) in logarithmic coordinates. The results can readily be transferred to Inequality (SCKN) in the original coordinates in view of Lemma 4. In particular, we obtain the optimal value of $\mathscr{C}^{\star}_{\alpha,\beta} = (4\pi)^{(p-2)/p} C^{\star}_{\alpha,p}$.

Proof of Proposition 29. A symmetric spinor ϕ can be written in the form (51) with $u \in H^1(\mathbb{R})$ and $\chi \in \mathcal{H}_k$ for $k \in \{0, -2\}$. Recall that \mathcal{H}_0 is generated by constant spinors and that \mathcal{H}_2 is generated by $\sigma \cdot \omega$ times constant spinors. Since $|(\sigma \cdot \omega) \chi|^2 = |\chi|^2$, in both cases $|\chi(\omega)|$ is independent of ω . Using $\sigma \cdot L \chi = \tilde{k} \chi$, Inequality (SCKN_{log}) becomes

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} |u'|^2 ds + \left(k - \alpha + \frac{1}{2}\right)^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}} |u|^2 ds \ge C^{\star}_{\alpha,p} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} |u|^p ds\right)^{2/p}$$

In view of the dependence of $\lambda = (k - \alpha + 1/2)^2$ on *k* we deduce that

- if $\alpha > -\frac{1}{2}$, then minimizing symmetric spinors are necessarily of type \mathcal{H}_0 ,
- if $\alpha < -\frac{1}{2}$, then minimizing symmetric spinors are necessarily of type \mathcal{H}_2 ,
- if $\alpha = -\frac{1}{2}$, the minimizing symmetric spinors can be of either type \mathcal{H}_0 and \mathcal{H}_{-2} .

We deduce that the sharp constant $C^*_{\alpha,p}$ coincides with $K_{\lambda,p}$ and that the *u*-part of a symmetric optimizer ϕ coincides with an optimizer of (15) found in Lemma 28.

The minimization problem over a certain class of spinors that is larger than the class of symmetric spinors, but smaller than $\mathcal{H}_{-2} \oplus \mathcal{H}_0$, can still be solved explicitly. We let

$$\mathscr{S} := \left\{ \psi \in \mathscr{D}_{\alpha,\beta} : \psi(x) = \left(f(|x|) + i \, \sigma \cdot \frac{x}{|x|} g(|x|) \right) \chi_0 \text{ for some functions } f, g \text{ on } \mathbb{R}_+ \text{ with } \overline{f}g \text{ real-valued and some } \chi_0 \in \mathbb{C}^2 \right\}.$$

Proposition 30. *For all* $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ *,* $\alpha \leq \beta \leq \alpha + 1$ *we have*

$$\inf_{\psi \in \mathscr{S} \setminus \{0\}} \frac{\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\sigma \cdot \nabla \psi(x)|^2 |x|^{-2\alpha} dx}{\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\psi(x)|^p |x|^{-\beta p} dx\right)^{2/p}} = \mathscr{C}_{\alpha,\beta}^{\star}.$$

The minimizers are of the form

$$h(|x|)\left(c_1+i\,\sigma\cdot\frac{x}{|x|}\,c_2\right)\chi_0$$

with $c_1, c_2 \in \mathbb{C}, \chi_0 \in \mathbb{C}^2$ and $h(r) = r^{\alpha - 1/2} u_{\star}(\ln(r/R))$ for some R > 0, where u_{\star} is given by (42), $c_2 = 0$ if $\alpha > -\frac{1}{2}$, $c_1 = 0$ if $\alpha < -\frac{1}{2}$ and $\overline{c_1} c_2 \ge 0$ if $\alpha = -\frac{1}{2}$.

In view of the definition of symmetry given in Section 1, Proposition 30 shows that the case $\alpha = -1/2$ does not correspond to symmetry. However, we already know that $C_{-1/2,p} < C^*_{-1/2,p}$ for any $p \in (2,6)$ by Proposition 14 and Theorem 27.

Proof. Let ψ be as in the definition of the class \mathscr{S} where, without loss of generality, $|\chi_0| = 1$. We apply Lemma 4 with $\phi(s, \omega) = (u(s) + i \sigma \cdot \omega v(s))\chi_0$, where *u* and *v* are related to *f* and *g* by $f(r) = r^{\alpha - 1/2} u(\log r)$ and $g(r) = r^{\alpha - 1/2} v(\log r)$. Since $\overline{u}v$ and $\langle \chi_0, \sigma \cdot \omega \chi_0 \rangle$ are real-valued, we find

$$|\phi|^2 = |u|^2 + |v|^2$$
 and $|(\sigma \cdot L - \alpha + \frac{1}{2})\phi|^2 = (\alpha - \frac{1}{2})^2 |u|^2 + (\alpha + \frac{3}{2})^2 |v|^2$.

Moreover,

$$|\partial_s \phi|^2 = |u'|^2 + |v'|^2 + 2\operatorname{Re}\left(\overline{u'}\,v'\,\langle\chi_0,\sigma\cdot\omega\,\chi_0\rangle\right).$$

Noting that the integral of the latter term with respect to $\omega \in S^2$ vanishes, we find that

$$\frac{\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\sigma \cdot \nabla \psi(x)|^2 |x|^{-2\alpha} dx}{\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\psi(x)|^p |x|^{-\beta p} dx\right)^{2/p}} = \frac{\iint_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2} \left(|u'|^2 + \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)^2 |u|^2 + |v'|^2 + \left(\alpha + \frac{3}{2}\right)^2 |v|^2 \right) ds d\omega}{(4\pi)^{\frac{2}{p} - 1} \left(\iint_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^2} \left(|u|^2 + |v|^2 \right)^{p/2} ds d\omega \right)^{2/p}}$$

Our goal is to determine the infimum of this quotient with respect to u and v.

Let us assume that $\alpha \ge -\frac{1}{2}$, the opposite case being similar. Then $(\alpha + \frac{3}{2})^2 \ge (\alpha - \frac{1}{2})^2$. Applying Inequality (15) and Proposition 29, we bound the numerator from below by

$$\begin{split} &\iint_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^{2}} \left(|u'|^{2} + \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)^{2} |u|^{2} + |v'|^{2} + \left(\alpha + \frac{3}{2}\right)^{2} |v|^{2} \right) ds \, d\omega \\ &\geq C_{\alpha,p}^{\star} \left(\iint_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^{2}} |u|^{p} \, ds \, d\omega \right)^{2/p} + C_{\alpha,p}^{\star} \left(\iint_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^{2}} |v|^{p} \, ds \, d\omega \right)^{2/p} \\ &+ \left(\left(\alpha + \frac{3}{2}\right)^{2} - \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)^{2} \right) \iint_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^{2}} |v|^{2} \, ds \, d\omega \\ &\geq C_{\alpha,p}^{\star} \left(\iint_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^{2}} (|u|^{2} + |v|^{2})^{p/2} \, ds \, d\omega \right)^{2/p} + \left(\left(\alpha + \frac{3}{2}\right)^{2} - \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\right)^{2} \right) \iint_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^{2}} |v|^{2} \, ds \, d\omega. \end{split}$$

The last inequality comes from the triangle inequality in $L^{p/2}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C})$. We conclude that the infimum over (u, v) coincides with $C^*_{\alpha, p}$ and, when $\alpha > -\frac{1}{2}$, it is only attained when $v \equiv 0$, that is, when ψ is symmetric of type \mathcal{H}_0 .

To determine the cases of equality for $\alpha = -\frac{1}{2}$, we recall that by the equality conditions in Minkowski's inequality (see, e.g., [30, Theorem 2.4]) we must have either $u \equiv 0$ or $v = \lambda u$ for some $\lambda \ge 0$. From this one easily deduces the result.

As another application of Lemma 28 we now show how it implies Lemma 21. This argument is well known and due to Lieb and Thirring, but repeated here for the sake of completeness. By Hölder's inequality with γ such that $\gamma + 1/2$ and p/2 are Hölder conjugates, i.e., such that (46) holds, we notice that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} |u'|^2 ds - \int_{\mathbb{R}} V |u|^2 ds + \lambda \int_{\mathbb{R}} |u|^2 ds \ge ||u'||^2_{L^2(\mathbb{R})} - ||V||_{L^{\gamma+1/2}(\mathbb{R})} ||u||^2_{L^p(\mathbb{R})} + \lambda ||u||^2_{L^2(\mathbb{R})}.$$

By Lemma 28, the right side is nonnegative if $||V||_{L^{\gamma+1/2}(\mathbb{R})} \leq \lambda^{\frac{1}{2}+\frac{1}{p}} K_{1,p}$. An optimization on u with $||u||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})}^{2} = 1$ shows that $\lambda_{1}(V) + \lambda \geq 0$ if $||V||_{L^{\gamma+1/2}(\mathbb{R})} \leq \lambda^{\frac{1}{2}+\frac{1}{p}} K_{1,p}$. As in Lemma 21, $-\lambda_{1}(V)$ denotes the lowest eigenvalue of the Schrödinger operator $-\frac{d^{2}}{ds^{2}} - V$. This proves (37) with $c_{LT}(\gamma) = K_{1,p}^{-p/(p-2)}$. Moreover, equality in (37) is achieved if the above inequalities are in fact equalities, that is, if V is proportional to $|u|^{p-2}$ and u is optimal for (15), i.e., given up to a translation by (42). The proof of Lemma 21 is completed with $V = V_{0}$ for $\lambda = 4/(p-2)^{2}$ so that $\gamma^{2} - 1/4 = 2 p/(p-2)^{2}$, and $u_{0} = u_{\star}/||u_{\star}||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})}$ with u_{\star} given by (42).

In connection with Lemmas 21 and 28 we record the following result on the *Pöschl*-*Teller operator*, $-\frac{d^2}{ds^2} - v(v+1)(\cosh s)^{-2}$, that we find useful. The result is implicitly contained in Lemma 21, but we show that it can be obtained directly.

Corollary 31. If $V(s) := (\cosh s)^{-2}$ for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$, then

$$\lambda_1(v(v+1)V) = v^2 \quad \forall v > 0.$$

If $V_{A,B}(s) := A(\cosh(Bs))^{-2}$ for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$, then

$$\lambda_1(V_{A,B}) = \frac{1}{4} \left(\sqrt{4A + B^2} - B \right)^2 \quad \forall (A,B) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^+ > 0.$$

Proof. We read from the proof of Lemma 28 that for any $2 the function <math>w(s) = (\cosh s)^{-2/(p-2)}$, i.e., $w(s) = (p/2)^{-1/(p-2)} v(2s/(p-2))$ belongs to $H^1(\mathbb{R})$ and solves

$$-(p-2)^2 w'' + 4 w - 2 p (\cosh s)^{-2} w = 0.$$

Thus, $-4/(p-2)^2$ is an eigenvalue of the Schrödinger operator with potential $-2p(p-2)^{-2}(\cosh s)^{-2}$. Since *w* is positive, it is the smallest. Reparametrizing $v(v+1) = 2p/(p-2)^2$ yields the first assertion. The second one follows by solving $v(v+1) = A/B^2$ and scaling $s \mapsto Bs$.

We refer to [27, p. 74], [22, Section 4.2.2] and [34, 26] for further details on the ground state of the Pöschl-Teller operator and its spectrum.

APPENDIX B. SPINOR SPHERICAL HARMONICS DECOMPOSITION

The purpose of this appendix is twofold. On the one hand, we want to give a selfcontained proof of the decomposition of $L^2(\mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2)$ into eigenspaces of the operator $\sigma \cdot L$ and on the other hand, we want to recall the construction of an explicit basis which will be convenient when doing computations.

We consider the operator

$$D := \sigma \cdot L + 1 \quad \text{in} \quad L^2(\mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2).$$

The following result is well-known in physics and in differential geometry. We provide an elementary proof along the lines of [1].

Theorem 32. The spectrum of *D* is discrete and consists of the eigenvalues $\pm (1 + \kappa)$, $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}$, with multiplicity $2(\kappa + 1)$.

Proof. \triangleright *Step 1.* Let $\mathcal{M}_+ := \mathbb{C}^2$, identified with constant spinors in $L^2(\mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2)$, and

 $\mathcal{M}_{-} := \{ \sigma \cdot \omega \, \Psi : \Psi \in \mathbb{C}^2 \}.$

We claim that

$$\ker(D \neq 1) = \mathcal{M}_{\pm}.$$
(52)

Indeed, clearly we have $D\psi = \psi$ for $\psi \in \mathcal{M}_+$ and conversely, if $\psi \in H^1(\mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2)$ satisfies $D\psi = \psi$, then $-\Delta \psi = 0$ (since $-\Delta = (\sigma \cdot L)^2 + \sigma \cdot L$) and consequently $\psi \in \mathcal{M}_+$. This proves (52) for the upper signs. The other case in (52) follows from this using the identity

$$D\sigma \cdot \omega = -\sigma \cdot \omega D, \tag{53}$$

see (5), which is easily verified. In (53), $\sigma \cdot \omega$ is understood as a multiplication operator.

▷ *Step 2.* We claim that for either choice of the sign, the spectrum of $(D \pm \frac{1}{2})^2$ consists precisely of the eigenvalues $(\ell + 1/2)^2$, $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$, with multiplicities $2(2\ell + 1)$.

To prove this, let *f* be a \mathbb{C} -valued function on \mathbb{S}^2 . We note that

$$\left(D \mp \frac{1}{2}\right)^2 (f\psi) = \left(-\Delta f + \frac{1}{4}f\right)\psi \quad \text{if} \quad \psi \in \mathcal{M}_{\pm}.$$
(54)

Here $-\Delta = L^2$ denotes the Laplace-Beltrami operator on \mathbb{S}^2 with the sign convention $-\Delta \ge 0$. The proof of (54) is immediate for the upper sign, where it follows from $D^2 - D = -\Delta$ and $\Delta(f \psi) = (\Delta f) \psi$ since ψ is constant. Identity (54) for the lower sign follows from that for the upper sign, since by (53) $(D + \frac{1}{2})^2 \sigma \cdot \omega = \sigma \cdot \omega (D - \frac{1}{2})^2$.

It is well known that the spectrum of the operator $-\Delta + \frac{1}{4}$ acting on scalar functions consists of the eigenvalues $(\ell + 1/2)^2$, $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$, with multiplicity $2\ell + 1$. Therefore, the numbers $(\ell + 1/2)^2$, $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$, are eigenvalues of $(D \pm \frac{1}{2})^2$ of multiplicity $\ge 2(2\ell + 1)$. Eigenfunctions are given by functions of the form $Y_{\ell,m}\Psi_i$, where $Y_{\ell,m}$ are eigenfunctions of $-\Delta$ and $\{\Psi_1, \Psi_2\}$ is a basis of \mathcal{M}_{\pm} . Since functions of this form span $L^2(\mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2)$, we obtain the assertion made at the beginning of this step.

▷ *Step 3*. We can now complete the proof of the theorem. The computation of the spectrum of $(D \pm \frac{1}{2})^2$ shows that the spectrum of *D* is contained in \mathbb{Z} and that one has for $\epsilon \in \{+1, -1\}$

$$\dim \ker\left(\left(D + \frac{\epsilon}{2}\right) - \left(\ell + \frac{1}{2}\right)\right) + \dim \ker\left(\left(D + \frac{\epsilon}{2}\right) + \left(\ell + \frac{1}{2}\right)\right) = \dim \ker\left(\left(D + \frac{\epsilon}{2}\right)^2 - \left(\ell + \frac{1}{2}\right)^2\right)$$
$$= 2\left(2\ell + 1\right).$$
(55)

Applying this identity with $\ell = 0$ and either choice of ϵ and recalling (52), we deduce that dimker D = 0. Next, applying (55) with $\ell = 1$ and both choices of ϵ and recalling (52), we deduce that dimker(D + 2) = 4 = dimker(D - 2). Next, applying (55) with $\ell = 2$ and both choices of ϵ and recalling the information about the eigenvalues ± 2 , we deduce that dimker(D + 3) = 6 = dimker(D - 3). Continuing in this way we obtain the assertion of the theorem.

Corollary 33. Any function $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^2)$ has an orthogonal decomposition

$$\psi = \sum_{\kappa \in \mathbb{N}, \nu = \pm} \psi_{\kappa, \nu}$$

with $\|\psi\|^2 = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}, \nu=\pm} \|\psi_{k,\nu}\|^2$ such that

$$D\psi_{\kappa,\pm} = \pm (1+\kappa)\psi_{\kappa,\pm} \quad and \quad -\Delta\psi_{\kappa,\nu} = \begin{cases} \kappa (\kappa+1)\psi_{\kappa,\nu} & \text{if } \nu = +, \\ (\kappa+1)(\kappa+2)\psi_{\kappa,\nu} & \text{if } \nu = -. \end{cases}$$

Moreover, with $J = L + \frac{1}{2}\sigma$ *we have*

$$J^2 \psi_{\kappa,\nu} = \left(\kappa + \frac{1}{2}\right) \left(\kappa + \frac{3}{2}\right) \psi_{\kappa,\nu}.$$

This follows immediately by spectral theory from the previous theorem. For the assertion about the Laplace-Beltrami operator we note that $-\Delta = (\sigma \cdot L)^2 + \sigma \cdot L$, so

$$-\Delta = D^2 - D,$$

and $(1 + \kappa)^2 - (1 + \kappa) = \kappa (\kappa + 1)$, $(1 + \kappa)^2 + (1 + \kappa) = (\kappa + 1) (\kappa + 2)$. The assertion about *J* follows from $J^2 = L^2 + \sigma \cdot L + \frac{3}{4}$ and

$$\left(\pm (1+k)\left(\pm (1+k)-1\right)\right) + \left(\pm (1+k)-1\right) + \frac{3}{4} = \left(k+\frac{1}{2}\right)\left(k+\frac{3}{2}\right).$$

Up to now in this appendix, the eigenvalues of *D* were labelled as $v(1 + \kappa)$ with $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}$ and $v \in \{+, -\}$. In order to conform with the physics literature we now focus on the eigenvalues of $\sigma \cdot L = D - 1$ and label those by $k \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$. Thus, $k = \kappa$ for v = + and $k = -\kappa - 2$ for v = -, where in both cases $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}$. Then an equivalent way of phrasing Corollary 33 is as follows.

Corollary 34. There is an orthogonal decomposition

$$\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{S}^{2},\mathbb{C}^{2}) = \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{-1\}} \mathscr{H}_{k}$$

such that, for any $k \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{-1\}$, we have dim $\mathcal{H}_k = 2|k+1|$ and for any $\psi \in \mathcal{H}_k$ we have

$$\sigma \cdot L\psi = k\psi, \quad L^2\psi = k(k+1)\psi, \quad J^2\psi = \left(k+\frac{1}{2}\right)\left(k+\frac{3}{2}\right)\psi.$$

We now present an explicit basis of the spaces \mathcal{H}_k following [3, pp. 61-62] or [36, p. 127]. Let (Y_ℓ^m) , $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$, $m = -\ell, \dots, \ell$, the usual family of spherical harmonics. These are complex-valued functions on \mathbb{S}^2 such that, for each $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$, $(Y_\ell^{-\ell}, \dots, Y_\ell^{\ell})$ is an orthonormal basis of the eigenspace of the operator L^2 corresponding to the eigenvalue ℓ ($\ell + 1$). The basis can be chosen in such a way that in terms of the components of the operator $L = \omega \land (-i\nabla)$ we have for each $m = -\ell, \dots, \ell$

$$L_3 Y_{\ell}^m = m Y_{\ell}^m, \quad (L_1 \pm i L_2) Y_{\ell}^m = \sqrt{(\ell \pm m + 1)(\ell \mp m)} Y_{\ell}^m.$$
(56)

Since $\overline{L_j f} = -L_j \overline{f}$, we may and will assume that

$$\overline{Y_{\ell}^{m}} = (-1)^{m} Y_{\ell}^{-m}.$$
(57)

In particular, Y^0_{ℓ} is real valued.

We now introduce the functions

$$\chi_k^m = \frac{\sqrt{4\pi}}{\sqrt{2k+1}} \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{k+m+1/2} Y_k^{m-1/2} \\ \sqrt{k-m+1/2} Y_k^{m+1/2} \end{pmatrix}, \quad k \ge 0, \quad m = -k - 1/2, -k + 1/2, \dots, k + 1/2,$$

and

$$\chi_k^m = \frac{\sqrt{4\pi}}{\sqrt{-2k-1}} \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{-k-m-1/2} \, Y_{-k-1}^{m-1/2} \\ -\sqrt{-k+m-1/2} \, Y_{-k-1}^{m+1/2} \end{pmatrix}, \quad k \le -2, \quad m = k+3/2, \, k+1/2, \dots, -k-3/2.$$

(The factor $\sqrt{4\pi}$ is due to the fact that we consider the surface measure on \mathbb{S}^2 normalized to be a probability measure.)

Lemma 35. Let $k \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{-1\}$. The functions $(\chi_k^{-k-1/2}, ..., \chi_k^{k+1/2})$ when $k \ge 0$ and the functions $(\chi_k^{k+3/2}, ..., \chi_k^{-k-3/2})$ when $k \le -2$ form an orthonormal basis of \mathcal{H}_k . Moreover, we have $J_3 \chi_k^m = m \chi_k^m$ for every m.

Proof. Using (56) one easily verifies that $\sigma \cdot L\chi_k^m = k\chi_k^m$. Thus, these functions belong to \mathcal{H}_k . Moreover, again because of (56), we have $J_3\chi_k^m = m\chi_k^m$. By self-adjointness of J_3 we deduce that the χ_k^m are orthogonal. Since dim $\mathcal{H}_k = 2|k+1|$ by Corollary 34, these functions form a basis of \mathcal{H}_k . Finally, the normalization of χ_k^m follows immediately from that of the $Y_k^{m\pm 1/2}$.

Acknowledgment: Partial support through *Conviviality* project (ANR-23-CE40-0003) of the French National Research Agency (J.D.), US National Science Foundation grant DMS-1954995 (R.L.F.) and DMS-2154340 (M.L.), the German Research Foundation grants EXC-2111-390814868 and TRR 352-Project-ID 470903074 (R.L.F.).

© 2025 by the authors. This paper may be reproduced, in its entirety, for non-commercial purposes. CC-BY 4.0

REFERENCES

- C. BÄR, *The Dirac operator on space forms of positive curvature*, J. Math. Soc. Japan, 48 (1996), pp. 69– 83.
- W. BECKNER, Sharp Sobolev inequalities on the sphere and the Moser-Trudinger inequality, Ann. of Math. (2), 138 (1993), pp. 213–242.
- [3] H. A. BETHE AND E. E. SALPETER, Quantum mechanics of one- and two-electron atoms, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Göttingen-Heidelberg; Academic Press, Inc., New York, 1957.
- [4] M.-F. BIDAUT-VÉRON AND L. VÉRON, Nonlinear elliptic equations on compact Riemannian manifolds and asymptotics of Emden equations, Invent. Math., 106 (1991), pp. 489–539.
- [5] H. BRÉZIS AND E. LIEB, A relation between pointwise convergence of functions and convergence of functionals, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 88 (1983), pp. 486–490.
- [6] G. BRIGATI, J. DOLBEAULT, AND N. SIMONOV, Logarithmic Sobolev and interpolation inequalities on the sphere: constructive stability results, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré C Anal. Non Linéaire, 41 (2024), pp. 1289–1321.
- [7] L. CAFFARELLI, R. KOHN, AND L. NIRENBERG, *First order interpolation inequalities with weights*, Compositio Math., 53 (1984), pp. 259–275.
- [8] F. CATRINA AND Z.-Q. WANG, On the Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg inequalities: sharp constants, existence (and nonexistence), and symmetry of extremal functions, Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 54 (2001), pp. 229–258.
- [9] K. S. CHOU AND C. W. CHU, On the best constant for a weighted Sobolev-Hardy inequality, J. London Math. Soc. (2), 48 (1993), pp. 137–151.
- [10] J. DOLBEAULT AND M. J. ESTEBAN, *Extremal functions for Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg and logarithmic Hardy inequalities*, Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A, 142 (2012), pp. 745–767.
- [11] J. DOLBEAULT, M. J. ESTEBAN, A. LAPTEV, AND M. LOSS, One-dimensional Gagliardo-Nirenberg-Sobolev inequalities: remarks on duality and flows, J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2), 90 (2014), pp. 525–550.

- [12] J. DOLBEAULT, M. J. ESTEBAN, AND M. LOSS, Symmetry of extremals of functional inequalities via spectral estimates for linear operators, J. Math. Phys., 53 (2012), pp. 095204, 18.
- [13] ——, *Rigidity versus symmetry breaking via nonlinear flows on cylinders and Euclidean spaces*, Invent. Math., 206 (2016), pp. 397–440.
- [14] J. DOLBEAULT, M. J. ESTEBAN, M. LOSS, AND G. TARANTELLO, On the symmetry of extremals for the *Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg inequalities*, Adv. Nonlinear Stud., 9 (2009), pp. 713–726.
- [15] J. DOLBEAULT, M. J. ESTEBAN, AND E. SÉRÉ, On the eigenvalues of operators with gaps. Application to Dirac operators, J. Funct. Anal., 174 (2000), pp. 208–226.
- [16] —, Variational methods in relativistic quantum mechanics: new approach to the computation of Dirac eigenvalues, in Mathematical models and methods for ab initio quantum chemistry, vol. 74 of Lecture Notes in Chem., Springer, Berlin, 2000, pp. 211–226.
- [17] J. DOLBEAULT AND A. ZHANG, *Optimal functional inequalities for fractional operators on the sphere and applications*, Adv. Nonlinear Stud., 16 (2016), pp. 863–880.
- [18] M. J. ESTEBAN, M. LEWIN, AND E. SÉRÉ, Domains for Dirac-Coulomb min-max levels, Rev. Mat. Iberoam., 35 (2019), pp. 877–924.
- [19] ——, Dirac-Coulomb operators with general charge distribution I. Distinguished extension and minmax formulas, Ann. H. Lebesgue, 4 (2021), pp. 1421–1456.
- [20] ——, *Dirac-Coulomb operators with general charge distribution II. The lowest eigenvalue*, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3), 123 (2021), pp. 345–383.
- [21] V. FELLI AND M. SCHNEIDER, Perturbation results of critical elliptic equations of Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg type, J. Differential Equations, 191 (2003), pp. 121–142.
- [22] R. L. FRANK, A. LAPTEV, AND T. WEIDL, Schrödinger operators: eigenvalues and Lieb-Thirring inequalities, vol. 200 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2023.
- [23] R. L. FRANK AND E. H. LIEB, A new, rearrangement-free proof of the sharp Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev inequality, in Spectral theory, function spaces and inequalities, vol. 219 of Oper. Theory Adv. Appl., Birkhäuser/Springer Basel AG, Basel, 2012, pp. 55–67.
- [24] T. HORIUCHI, Best constant in weighted Sobolev inequality with weights being powers of distance from *the origin*, J. Inequal. Appl., 1 (1997), pp. 275–292.
- [25] V. P. IL'IN, Some integral inequalities and their applications in the theory of differentiable functions of several variables, Mat. Sb. (N.S.), 54 (96) (1961), pp. 331–380.
- [26] J. B. KELLER, Lower bounds and isoperimetric inequalities for eigenvalues of the Schrödinger equation, J. Mathematical Phys., 2 (1961), pp. 262–266.
- [27] L. D. LANDAU AND E. LIFSCHITZ, *Quantum Mechanics. Non-relativistic theory.*, Third edition. Translated from the russian by J.B. Sykes and J.S. Bell. Pergamon, New York, 1977.
- [28] E. LIEB AND W. THIRRING, Inequalities for the moments of the eigenvalues of the Schrödinger Hamiltonian and their relation to Sobolev inequalities, Essays in Honor of Valentine Bargmann, E. Lieb, B. Simon, A. Wightman Eds. Princeton University Press, 1976, pp. 269–303.
- [29] E. H. LIEB, Sharp constants in the Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev and related inequalities, Ann. of Math.
 (2), 118 (1983), pp. 349–374.
- [30] E. H. LIEB AND M. LOSS, *Analysis*, vol. 14 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, second ed., 2001.
- [31] P.-L. LIONS, The concentration-compactness principle in the calculus of variations. The locally compact case. II, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire, 1 (1984), pp. 223–283.
- [32] V. MAZ'YA AND T. SHAPOSHNIKOVA, A collection of sharp dilation invariant integral inequalities for differentiable functions, in Sobolev spaces in mathematics. I, vol. 8 of Int. Math. Ser. (N. Y.), Springer, New York, 2009, pp. 223–247.
- [33] B. OPIC AND A. KUFNER, *Hardy-type inequalities*, vol. 219 of Pitman Research Notes in Mathematics Series, Longman Scientific & Technical, Harlow, 1990.

- 39
- [34] G. PÖSCHL AND E. TELLER, *Bemerkungen zur Quantenmechanik des anharmonischen Oszillators*, Zeitschrift für Physik A Hadrons and Nuclei, 83 (1933), pp. 143–151.
- [35] L. SCHIMMER, J. P. SOLOVEJ, AND S. TOKUS, *Friedrichs extension and min-max principle for operators with a gap*, Ann. Henri Poincaré, 21 (2020), pp. 327–357.
- [36] B. THALLER, The Dirac equation, Texts and Monographs in Physics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1992.
- [37] B. v. Sz. NAGY, *Über Integralungleichungen zwischen einer Funktion und ihrer Ableitung*, Acta Univ. Szeged. Sect. Sci. Math., 10 (1941), pp. 64–74.

J. DOLBEAULT: CEREMADE (CNRS UMR N° 7534), PSL UNIVERSITY, UNIVERSITÉ PARIS-DAUPHINE, PLACE DE LATTRE DE TASSIGNY, 75775 PARIS 16, FRANCE *Email address*: dolbeaul@ceremade.dauphine.fr

M.J. ESTEBAN: CEREMADE (CNRS UMR N° 7534), PSL UNIVERSITY, UNIVERSITÉ PARIS-DAUPHINE, PLACE DE LATTRE DE TASSIGNY, 75775 PARIS 16, FRANCE *Email address*: esteban@ceremade.dauphine.fr

R.L. FRANK: DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, LMU MUNICH, THERESIENSTR. 39, 80333 MÜNCHEN, GERMANY; MUNICH CENTER FOR QUANTUM SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY, SCHELLINGSTR. 4, 80799 MÜNCHEN, GERMANY; MATHEMATICS 253-37, CALTECH, PASADENA, CA 91125, USA

Email address: r.frank@lmu.de

M. Loss: School of Mathematics, Georgia Institute of Technology Atlanta, GA 30332, United States of America

Email address: loss@math.gatech.edu